

The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies

The Emerging Geopolitics of Food

A Strategic Response to Supply Risks of Critical Imports for the Dutch Agro-Food Sector

The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies Nº 19 | 02 | 13





The Emerging Geopolitics of Food *The Hague* Centre for Strategic Studies (HCSS)

Rapport N° 19 | 02 | 13 ISBN/EAN: 978-94-91040-76-4

A report commissioned by Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs Annette Weijering and Jasper Dalhuisen - DG Agro- Directie Agrokennis

Project team

HCSS Marjolein de Ridder Sijbren de Jong Joren Selleslaghs

LEI Thom Achterbosch Roel Jongeneel Petra Berkhout Martijn van der Heide

© 2013 *The Hague* Centre for Strategic Studies. All rights reserved. No part of this report may be reproduced and/or published in any form by print, photo print, microfilm or any other means without previous written permission from the HCSS. All images are subject to the licenses of their respective owners.

Graphic Design: Studio Maartje de Sonnaville, The Hague

The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies

Lange Voorhout 16 2514 EE The Hague The Netherlands

info@hcss.nl www.hcss.nl

The Emerging Geopolitics of Food

A Strategic Response to Supply Risks of Critical Imports for the Dutch Agro-Food Sector

The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies Nº 19 | 02 | 13



HCSS helps governments, non-governmental organizations and the private sector to understand the fast-changing environment and seeks to anticipate the challenges of the future with practical policy solutions and advice.

Table of contents

	Management summary	9
	Introduction	13
1	The geopolitics of food, agriculture, and raw materials	17
1.1	The global challenge of food security	17
1.2	The changing international playing field	21
1.3	Policy responses	23
1.4	Challenges for the Netherlands	25
2	Risk assessment of the Dutch agro-food sector	27
2.1 2.2	Economic interests of the Dutch agricultural complex Critical imports of agricultural commodities and raw materials	27
	from non-EU regions	29
2.3	Risks to Dutch agribusiness that relate to import dependency	30
3	Opportunities for the Netherlands	37
3.1	What are the strengths the Dutch agro-food sector has to offer?	37
3.2	Opportunities to use Dutch strengths in mitigating supply risks	39
4	Conclusion: perspectives for action	43
4.1	Towards a new perspective on risk mitigation	43
4.2	Policy recommendations	45
	Annex 1	51
	Protectionist measures	51

53
53
55
50
59
59
59
63

Management summary

Interdependencies in the field of food, agriculture, and raw materials are growing. Global population growth, rising prosperity, and changing consumption patterns in emerging economies have increased the demand for all three. Geopolitical trends shape global markets for food, agriculture, and raw materials and carry consequences for the Dutch agro-food sector. Critical sectors of the Dutch agricultural complex are dependent on imported raw materials from the rest of the world and are therefore vulnerable to supply disruptions resulting from geopolitical developments. This report explores how the Dutch government could strengthen the resilience of the Dutch agro-food system and mitigate risks to the supply of critical raw material imports.

The emerging geopolitics of food

Food has increasingly become a matter of geopolitics. A growing and ever-wealthier world population, increased biofuel use, and a slowdown of agricultural productivity growth have prompted a tightening of the global food market. In this market setting, harvest failures and policy responses contribute to soaring food prices and increased price volatility. Today's global food security challenge differs from the past. The international system is in transition to a multipolar world, in which multiple centers of power compete with each other. In a multipolar world, the international system is characterized by high uncertainty and a higher chance of international tensions. Concurrently, there is a resurgence of resource nationalism in some countries, which means the state is playing a more pronounced role in the support, ownership and management of businesses and strategic industries, such as agriculture and mining.

Implications for the Netherlands

In the Netherlands, food insecurity is not an imminent risk and the Dutch agro-food sector is well integrated into the world market. Nonetheless, geopolitical risks are real. Therefore, scenarios under which the Dutch agro-food sector has difficulty in adequately sourcing raw material imports, either through open markets, commodities exchanges or business-to-business contracts, should not be neglected. Should the supply of critical materials to the Netherlands collapse, the Dutch agro-food sector and thereby the overall Dutch economy stand to suffer. Addressing this challenge requires a strategic reorientation of Dutch policy on food, agriculture, and raw materials, as well as the role of government in these areas.

Perspectives for action

The Dutch government wants to take care of the interests of Dutch consumers and producers of agro-food products while simultaneously supporting a safe and stable world characterized by fair international relationships. Therefore, the government should find ways that mitigate supply risks that go beyond simply achieving the largest supply security at the lowest cost. The Dutch government should distance itself from resource nationalism and aggressive overseas policies to secure food and raw materials, which sometimes harm the local economy or local food security. The Netherlands can set itself apart by avoiding shifting the burden of securing the interests of the Dutch agro-food sector on to developing countries and by instead focusing on cooperative solutions aimed at creating long-term win-win situations that benefit both the Netherlands and the sourcing countries. From this perspective, in which reciprocity is key, a number of policy recommendations can be formulated.

Policy recommendations

1 Maintain domestic food production to sustain knowledge and innovation base

Sustaining a degree of food self-sufficiency can not only serve as a cushion against interruptions of food supply, but is also necessary to maintain an advanced agricultural knowledge system and to remain innovative in the field of agro-food. Knowledge and innovation are increasingly a source of export revenue for the Netherlands and lie at the basis of the competitive position of the Dutch agro-food sector abroad.

2 Focus on top sourcing countries of critical raw materials and explore new sourcing opportunities

Critical materials for the Dutch agro-food sector include fruit, nuts, spices, coffee, tea, cocoa, margarine, fats, oils, nitrogen, potassium, phosphate, coarse grains, soy protein, and other feedstock. The Dutch government should focus on extending partnerships with established and new suppliers of these materials.

3 Reinvent multilateral cooperation and move beyond promoting open markets

While continuing to promote open and stable markets in international forums such as the World Trade Organization, the Dutch government should push for a critical review of trade legislation, an imposed limitation on the use of export restrictions, more transparency in markets, and more cooperation between import-dependent countries.

4 Complement multilateral efforts with strategic partnerships

Develop strategic partnerships with countries where the Dutch agro-food complex has both valuable knowledge to offer and from which the Netherlands imports critical materials. Partnerships should revolve around innovation for sustainable production in the agro-food sector and be based on creating longterm win-win situations for both the Netherlands and the sourcing country.

5 Adopt a strategic perspective on sustainability

Move beyond environmental motives to encourage sustainability and adopt a strategic vision on sustainability as a means to mitigate supply disruption risks for the agro-food sector. Resource efficiency and sustainable supply chains avoid rapid resource depletion and create long-term supply security. Sustainability should be used as a trigger for cooperation with top sourcing countries and involvement of the private sector.

6 Start strategic dialogue with the agro-food sector

Devise strategies to shorten the response time of industry and to limit shortterm economic damage in case of supply disruptions. Think about ways to improve the resilience of industry, including preventive and non-market conform strategies. Consider trade-offs between price and supply security.

7 Integrate agro-food interests in economic diplomacy

Promote an interdepartmental and cross-sectoral dialogue with other ministries for a strategic reorientation of international (development) cooperation, shifting away from idealistic motives toward an emphasis on investment for mutual benefit. Develop a more systematic approach to identify which countries should be designated for international cooperation and include top sourcing countries for the Dutch agro-food sector.

Introduction

Global population growth, rising prosperity and changing consumption patterns in emerging economies have increased the demand for food. In addition, slow productivity growth, failed harvests and extreme weather conditions have hampered supply. As a consequence, the global food market has become increasingly tight and food prices have reached record heights over the past years. Price spikes of staple foods have contributed to social unrest and political instability in various parts of the world. In North Africa, high food prices contributed to the 'Arab Spring' that resulted in the collapse of various autocratic regimes. It has also triggered an increase of land grabbing, i.e. large scale acquisitions of farmland by foreign investors, especially in Africa, with potential negative consequences for local farmers and global food security. In this context, countries are increasingly concerned about food security and formulate policies aimed at securing resources that are necessary for agriculture and food production. The food, agriculture and raw materials nexus is growing, as population growth, rising prosperity and changing consumption patterns will increase the demand for all three. This means that tackling problems pertaining to one resource will be linked to the demand and supply of others.¹ As a consequence, strategic thinking about interdependencies in the field of food, agriculture and raw materials has become paramount.

The challenge facing the Netherlands

The changing international playing field forces the Dutch government to think more strategically about the strengths and weaknesses of the Dutch agro-food sector. The Dutch agro-food sector is one of the driving forces of the economy of the Netherlands and represents an important share of the overall Dutch economy in terms of value added. Internationally, the Dutch agro-food sector is also of significance. The Netherlands is the world's second-largest exporter of agricultural products and one of the world's leading producers of vegetables and fruit. The downside of this strength is that the Dutch agricultural complex is highly dependent on the import of raw materials. For example, the Netherlands imports relatively large volumes of soy beans, which are essential for the livestock industry. This import reliance means that the Netherlands is vulnerable to supply disruptions. These disruptions may emerge due to failed harvests, political instability, or export restrictions. The collapse of imports of important raw materials for the Dutch agro-food sector could cause significant damage to the overall Dutch economy. Therefore, the Dutch government should promote policies that aim to strengthen the resilience of the agro-food system.

Strategic thinking about the Dutch agro-food sector is also necessary since European policy is falling short. For decades, the European Union (EU) has been largely self-sufficient in food production thanks to the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). Despite this self-sufficiency, the EU remains vulnerable to internal and external shock calamities, such as droughts and other extreme weather events, a long-lasting volcano eruption, or epidemics of livestock diseases.² In order to improve European food security, the European Commission is currently in the process of reforming the CAP to address some of these risks. However, the proposed reforms take little account of the geopolitical risks that threaten the supply of raw materials and the production of food and feed in the EU.³ This is problematic since geopolitical risks are becoming ever-more important, and consequently, so is thinking about the challenges and opportunities they represent for the Dutch agro-food sector.

Background and objective of the report

The Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs has commissioned this report, written by The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies (HCSS) and the Agricultural Economics Research Institute (LEI), with the aim of informing policymakers about the geopolitical developments that shape global markets for food, agriculture, and raw materials; and the consequences these developments carry for the Dutch agro-food sector. The objective of this report is to increase awareness of the fact that critical sectors of the Dutch agricultural complex are dependent on imported raw materials from the rest of the world and are consequently vulnerable to supply disruptions resulting from geopolitical developments. Finally, the report aims to contribute to a debate on what policy options are available to strengthen the resilience of the Dutch agro-food system. Existing research looks into how the Netherlands can mitigate vulnerabilities in the European food system, for example by addressing gaps regarding food security in the CAP reform proposal.⁴ The scope of this report is both broader and narrower in focus. Broader in the sense that it looks beyond food security and also considers the Dutch agro-food sector as an economic interest of strategic importance. Narrower because the report has a national focus and explores one specific policy option for the Dutch government, namely using the strengths of the Dutch agro-food sector to mitigate risks to the supply of critical raw material imports.

Research questions and structure of the report

The main research question of the report is:

What are the critical dependencies for the Dutch agricultural complex and how could the Dutch government deal with these, considering the emerging geopolitics of food?

The scope of the analysis is limited to the risks related to the dependence of the Dutch agricultural complex on imports of raw materials and the opportunities for the Dutch agro-food sector to be instrumental in securing resources that are of economic interest to the Netherlands.

To answer the first part of the research question, **Chapter 1** describes the relation between food, raw materials and geopolitics. This section of the report asks the following subquestions:

- What developments are shaping the international context in which countries need to secure food and raw materials?
- What policy measures do countries implement in light of these developments and to what effect?
- · What challenges do these developments raise for the Netherlands?

Next, **Chapter 2** looks into the risks for the Dutch agro-food sector in relation to dependencies on imports of raw materials. The following subquestions are posed:

- Which sectors of the Dutch agricultural complex are of strategic interest to the Dutch economy?
- What raw materials do these sectors need to import in order to remain strong and competitive?
- What are the economic, environmental, and political risks to the security of supply of these raw materials?

Chapter 3 provides an assessment of the bargaining power of the Netherlands in securing access to raw materials that are essential for the Dutch agro-food sector. The corresponding subquestions are:

- What strengths does the Dutch agricultural complex have to offer to other countries?
- What are the opportunities for forging strategic relations with countries that possess essential resources for the Dutch agro-food sector?

Finally, **Chapter 4** concludes with perspectives for action for the Dutch government. It offers policy recommendations on how the Netherlands should deal with the international developments relating to food and its import dependencies. This section responds to the following subquestions:

- Given the emerging geopolitics of food, should the Dutch government employ its agro-food sector more strategically?
- Is it possible to use critical interdependencies between the Netherlands and other countries to create win-win situations?
- What concrete measures should the Dutch government implement in order to mitigate risks to the security of supply of raw materials for the agro-food sector; and should fostering greater strategic interdependency be a component of this strategy?

The geopolitics of food, agriculture and raw materials

This chapter describes the emerging geopolitics of food, agriculture and raw materials. This chapter first discusses today's global challenge of achieving food security (1.1). Next, the chapter analyzes in what respects the current food crisis differs from historical food crises. Section 1.2 describes the changing international context in which countries need to secure food and raw materials. Then, an overview is given of policy measures countries have taken in response to the food crisis (1.3). Finally, it assesses what challenges these developments raise for the Netherlands (1.4).

1.1 The global challenge of food security

Food scarcity and hunger are a problem for large parts of the world. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization's (FAO) most recent estimate, 925 million people were undernourished in 2010.⁵ People in many countries are suffering from food shortages and (chronic) undernourishment, including in Mali, Ethiopia, Eritrea, Zambia, Bangladesh, Mozambique, Yemen, the Democratic Republic of Congo, Somalia, North Korea, Niger, and Zimbabwe.⁶ Hunger in these parts of the world is often a result of corruption, conflict, or marginalization, rather than an issue of absolute food scarcity.⁷ Weak governance and dysfunctional institutions are at the root of the state's inability to deliver food security.⁸

The dire food situation in the developing world contrasts sharply with the food situation in developed world and emerging economies, which is characterized by massive food surpluses and obesity epidemics.⁹ Nonetheless, food security is also increasingly becoming a strategic policy priority of governments in developed and emerging economies. This is due to confluent structural factors that are driving up food demand, hampering food supply, and heightening food prices.

Growing demand and limited supply

First, the world population is set to reach over 9 billion by 2050.10 The greatest share of this increase will take place in developing countries, in a setting of urbanization and robust income growth from economic development.¹¹ Population growth and urbanization are expected to result in 3 billion more urban dwellers by 2050. For most people living in cities, food will have to be brought in from remote food-production centers. Higher incomes will change diets and consumption patterns. As more and more people enter the middle class, demand for meat and dairy products will increase. However, animal products such as meat and dairy require more resources to be produced and cause higher emissions than plant-based alternatives.¹² Growing demand for meat diverts cereal stocks toward meat production; 7 to 10kg of cereals are required to produce 1kg of meat.¹³ Globally, the 2012 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)-FAO Outlook estimates that the world will have 2.3 billion additional mouths to feed by 2050. This rise in demand will require 60% more animal feed, 1 billion more tonnes of cereals, and 200 million more tonnes of meat.14

Second, food availability has come under increasing pressure due to competing demands from the non-food sector, mainly for the production of biofuel and animal feed. For instance, global demand for vegetable oils for non-food industrial purposes has tripled within 20 years. Demand from China and the European Union (EU) accounted for 40% of this increase.¹⁵ The pressure from the biofuel sector is lessening somewhat as the continuation of mandatory blending of fossil fuels with biofuels is being debated in the EU and United States (US).¹⁶ The discovery of shale gas and increased production from difficult-to-access oil deposits in the US may also temper the demand for biofuel. Although cereal availability is not a pressing issue yet, it is significant that between 2008 and 2011 cereal production for non-food purposes grew by 5.8% whereas cereal production for food purposes grew by only 2.5%. In 2010–2011 as much as 54% of total cereal production was used for purposes other than food.¹⁷

Several factors are hampering growth at the supply side. In developing countries, the agricultural sector has suffered from a persistent lack of investments for two decades. Underinvestment has resulted in a lack of proper food storage capacity, degraded roads, insufficient technical training and increased transportation costs.¹⁸ This has made it difficult for local farmers to bring their products to the market in reliable and affordable ways. Productivity growth in developing

countries may have been negatively affected by the declining share of overseas development assistance dedicated to agriculture, which dropped from 19% in 1980 to 5% in 2010. In industrialized countries agricultural productivity growth has reached a ceiling.¹⁹ In addition, supply has been affected by rising prices of energy and fertilizer that have put some farmers out of business.²⁰ In the coming years, climate change may act as a stress multiplier on the supply side, as increasing extreme weather events may negatively affect crops, livestock and fishery systems. Climate change may also reduce the availability of land for farming due to rising sea levels or the deterioration of land quality.²¹ The availability of farmland is already decreasing due to residential and industrial development, urbanization and population growth.

Price developments

The market fundamentals of unbalanced supply and demand have created fertile ground for excessively high food prices. The Food Price Index of the FAO shows that world food prices have gone from an all-time low in 2002 to record highs in 2008 and 2011 (see Figure 1).





Policy measures that countries are taking in response to high food prices (see section 1.3) at times contribute to market distortions that hike up prices further and increase price volatility.²² Agricultural prices vary due to variability in production and consumption patterns. Variability in production is primarily

caused by variations in area planted or weather events that cause yield variations. Consumption patterns change mainly because of changes in income, prices, and changing tastes and food preferences. Unpredictable variability in production and consumption transmit into price volatility. Additional factors, such as stockpiling and supply and demand shocks of other commodities, may also amplify or attenuate volatility.³³

Some commentators assert that the increase in volatility also arises from financial firms that are increasingly investing in agricultural commodities through futures contracts and other financial instruments. Although this has received much attention in policy forums, such as the FAO and the Group of Twenty (G20), academic research is not conclusive on whether there is a relationship between price volatility and the activity of financial institutions. Meijering et al., for example, conclude that there is no evidence that speculation on agricultural futures markets has resulted in more volatile food prices on a weekly or monthly basis.²⁴

The impact of price volatility depends on whether a country is a net importer or exporter of food and on how well it is integrated into world markets.²⁵ Advanced economies are usually most open to price shocks but spend only a small proportion of their national income on food. The least-developed economies are disproportionately affected, as they are often net importers of food products, either in raw or processed form, and spend up to 70% of their budgets on food.²⁶ Moreover, farmers in the developing world often lack insurance or savings, which would enable them to handle large income fluctuations caused by price volatility.²⁷

Security implications

Against this backdrop, food security is an issue which is increasingly dealt with in the realm of geopolitics. Indicative of this development is the recent discourse surrounding the spikes of food prices, which emphasizes the security risks of food scarcity. The security implications of food insecurity became fully apparent during the 2008 food crisis and more recently during the Arab Spring. In January 2011, record high food prices resulted in protests in Tunisia, in which over 100 people died and which subsequently led to the spread of revolutions in other North African and Middle Eastern countries. Commentators have since depicted food scarcity as the "hidden driver of world politics".²⁸ Although some commentators in the media write about the possibility of countries going to war over food²⁹, there is no historical evidence of interstate conflict over food. This does not mean, however, that the threat of instability should be downplayed. On the contrary, incidents of violence related to food scarcity are numerous. According to the US State Department, more than 60 food-related riots have happened worldwide as a result of higher food prices and food insecurity.³⁰ Cases such as Liberia in 1980, the September 2010 riots in Mozambique, and the Arab Spring tell us that the risks of instability are real and serious.³¹ The ongoing conflict in Darfur is also an example of how food insecurity can contribute to conflict and large migration flows. The situation in this western part of Sudan is partially caused by climate change, as settled African farmers and nomadic Arab tribes fight over failing land and dwindling supplies of water. If prices continue to rise and food becomes increasingly scarce, food is likely to become an ever-more important driver of regional instability, and consequently international politics, in the future.

Another phenomenon causing international tensions is land grabbing, which is the acquisition of agricultural land by foreign investors. High food prices have triggered an increase of large-scale acquisitions of farmland, especially in Africa, Latin America, in Central Asia and Southeast Asia. Governments of emerging and developed economies have started to proactively purchase or lease thousands of hectares of farmland in foreign countries as an alternative to buying food on the international food market. Target countries usually welcome this interest, as it brings foreign investment, technology, know-how, and infrastructure. Land deals, however, can also create instability and other security risks when compromising the local population's access to resources, alienating local people who depend on those resources for livelihood and food security, and putting local farmers out of business.³²

1.2 The changing international playing field

Concerns about food security are not a new phenomenon. In the early 1970s, for example, prices of rice, wheat, maize, and soy beans also skyrocketed. Although current and past food crises share some characteristics the world today is fundamentally different from the past. To start with, the scale and speed with which changes ripple through the world system have radically changed in the age of globalization. Food insecurity today is often the result of a complex confluence of factors that may mutually reinforce each other, thus amplifying the scope and intricacy of the problem.³³ Also, the international system is in transition as a result of two major trends: the transition to a multipolar world; and state capitalist tendencies.

Transition toward a multipolar world

The international system is in transition toward a multipolar world order.³⁴ Whereas the international economic and political order was for the better part of the 20th century dominated by a triad of powers — US, Europe and Japan, of which the US was by far the strongest — their power is now in decline as economic and political power is shifting towards multiple emerging power centers. 35 This power shift has especially strengthened the position of the BRICS countries (Brazil, Russia, India, China and to a lesser extent South Africa).³⁶ The economic and financial crisis has been an accelerator of this power shift from West to East and the transition to a multipolar world. The crisis hit the developed countries hardest, resulting in the depreciation of the dollar and euro; a decline in GDP growth; mounting government debt; depleted national reserves; and, in case of the EU, highlighted economic and political divisions that threaten the continuation of the monetary union itself.37 The fiscal austerity measures that Western countries are forced to take challenge their international commitments and leverage. The effect of the financial crisis on the growth of emerging economies was much less profound. Their economic power has encouraged the emerging economies to also bolster their political influence.³⁸ The BRICS countries, but also other emerging economies like Turkey, are increasingly challenging the Western-dominated international order. Multipolarity increases uncertainty, instability, and complexity in international relations and consequently augments the chances of international friction. This is especially true in security matters, where the declining willingness or capacity of the US to act as the global security provider may increase instability in Asia and the Middle East. ³⁹ Such an international order increases the likelihood of supply disruptions due to protectionist policies or because countries use food and raw materials as strategic instruments.40

State capitalist tendencies

In addition, in some respects the international system is increasingly departing from a market order dominated by neoliberal capitalism and is in transition to a world order in which state-capitalist tendencies are more prominent.⁴¹ Especially in emerging economies, like China, India and Brazil, the state is, through (semi) state-owned companies, increasingly playing an important role in the support, ownership, and management of businesses and strategic industries. The phenomenon of resource nationalism, previously primarily a feature of the oil and gas sector, is now also observed in the agricultural and mineral sector. Resource nationalism refers to a situation in which control over natural resources shifts from foreign to domestic state-owned companies. It also means governments align their policies, including those related to food, agriculture and raw materials, more explicitly with the national interest. This development has resulted in increased access restrictions, trade barriers, export quotas, and other manifestations of growing protectionism. Government support for the agricultural sector has been widespread in Europe for years, for example through the CAP, but it is also growing developing and emerging economies. Already in its 11th 5-year plan, China has made increasing government support to agriculture and to farmers a key policy priority in order to achieve food security.⁴²

It should be noted that historically the role of the state in the resource sector has varied over time, depending on the reigning economic regime and conjuncture. In that sense, state intervention in the agricultural and mineral sector is not a new phenomenon. Time will tell whether the state-capitalist tendencies that can be observed today will eventually result in a broader shift from a neoliberal capitalist regime to a state-capitalist regime. The final outcome of the transition process remains uncertain. For now however, increasingly powerful state-owned companies, strengthened national control over natural resources, and national policies aimed at securing supplies of food, agricultural commodities and raw materials are shaping the international playing field and the geopolitics of food.

1.3 Policy responses

The global challenge of food security has been addressed by international organizations, such as the FAO, the United Nations (UN) World Food Program, the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), and the World Bank. Their efforts focus on improving the world food situation through redistribution, investment, food aid, and many other activities. National governments, by contrast, are focused on the more narrow interest of improving their domestic food situation. The policy measures that countries are implementing to this end are in turn affecting food and raw materials markets. See also Annex 1 on protectionist measures.

Producers, exporters and importers

The policy responses of national governments are to a large degree dependent upon whether the country is a producer of agricultural commodities and whether it is a netexporter or importer. Looking at the supply side of agricultural commodities, a number of countries stand out as 'prime deliverers' around the world. China is the world's largest wheat producer, followed by India and the US. France, Australia and Ukraine are the largest producers of barley. China and India are responsible for the bulk of global rice production; and the US, Brazil and Argentina hold most of the market for soy beans. The US is also the world's leading corn producer.⁴³ On the demand side, China and Japan are major importers of soy beans. The Philippines, Saudi Arabia and Iran are major importers of rice; and wheat is chiefly imported by Egypt, Italy and Brazil. Barley is predominantly imported by Saudi Arabia, China and the Netherlands.⁴⁴

It should be noted that larger countries are often important producing countries but not always important exporters. As a result of strong domestic demand, some producers maintain large stocks and export only a small share of their total production. In the most extreme cases, they are net importers. As a consequence, the markets for important commodities, such as rice, soy and wheat, are thin. (meaning that volumes traded are low) Of all rice production only 5% is traded in international market; the remainder is consumed domestically. By contrast, some small countries, such as the Netherlands, export large volumes to the international market.

Balancing domestic needs with export revenues

As a result of the global food security challenge, governments in producer countries increasingly view their agricultural sector through a political-strategic lens and play an increasingly proactive role in this sector.⁴⁵ The agricultural sector is considered a strategic asset by "prime deliverers" for the reasons that it both satisfies domestic demand for food, and maximizes state revenues by exporting food to the global market. In order to do so, a common practice among producing countries is to implement production quotas or export restrictions. This may, however, decrease the availability of food on the global market and contribute to food shortages elsewhere. For example, persistent drought and forest fires caused an almost 40% reduction in the Russian grain harvest in 2010. In response the Russian government enacted export restrictions on grain, which caused Russian grain exports to grind to a halt and resulted in shortages on the international market.

Securitization of food policy

Heightened awareness about global food security challenges has prompted many import-dependent countries to develop policies aimed at securing a stable and affordable food supply and at mitigating supply disruption risks. These policies have included acquiring access to food from overseas through proactively purchasing or leasing agricultural land abroad, or through vertical integration of companies in the food supply chain. For example, over the past few years, China has been purchasing and leasing large areas of agricultural land in some of Africa's poorest countries.⁴⁶ Import-dependent countries have also implemented policies designed to reduce their dependence by improving efficiency and reducing food waste.⁴⁷

1.4 Challenges for the Netherlands

Overall, this chapter has made clear that food security in the 21st century has become a topic firmly on the policy agenda of governments worldwide. The aforementioned trends and developments also raise a number of challenges for the Netherlands, which is endowed with a strong agro-food sector. High food prices and food shortages are first of all problematic from a humanitarian point of view. They make it difficult for the international community to fulfill the Millennium Development Goal (MDG) of eradicating extreme poverty and hunger, to which the Netherlands is also committed.48 But food scarcity is also indirectly a threat to Dutch economic interests and the Dutch agro-food sector. According to the Global Hunger Index⁴⁹ the hunger situation in 20 countries is alarming, including in India and other countries that are key to stability in troubled regions (for example, Yemen, Eritrea, and Sudan). Some countries are sourcing regions of the Dutch agro-food sector, such as Ethiopia and India. As stated above, food insecurity in these countries can lead to political instability and threaten the supply of food and raw materials to the Netherlands.

Furthermore, the various policy measures that countries take with the aim of securing their economic activities related to agriculture and food can also negatively affect global food security. Export restrictions, overseas acquisitions, stockpiling, the promotion of vertical integration, and forms of protectionism inhibit the functioning of the global food market; can reduce the availability of food on international markets; and heighten international tensions, especially in a context of multipolarity. As a consequence these policy measures may threaten the supply security of the Netherlands.

2 Risk assessment of the Dutch agro-food sector

This chapter analyzes the risks to the production potential of the Dutch agrofood sector in light of its dependency on imported raw materials and minerals. The chapter consists of three sections. Section 2.1 analyzes the economic interests of the Dutch agro-food sector. It provides an overview of the contribution of the sector to the Dutch economy and trade balance, and identifies the clusters of substantial strength. We follow the definition of the "agricultural complex", i.e., all activities related to agriculture and food including the processing, supply, and distribution of raw agricultural materials. Section 2.2 sheds light on the vulnerability of the Dutch agro-food sector by looking at the importance of commodity imports for the Dutch agricultural complex. Finally, section 2.3 identifies a number of risks to the operation of Dutch agribusiness that relate to the dependency on critical imports of agricultural commodities and raw materials from non-EU regions.

2.1 Economic interests of the Dutch agricultural complex

The Dutch agro-food sector is of strategic importance for the Netherlands. From a strategic point of view it can be argued that it is important to maintain a domestic food production capacity in order to ensure food security. In that case, it is worthwhile to consider sustaining a diverse range of agro-food industries.

The economic importance of the agro-food sector for the Netherlands can also be quantified. The Netherlands is the world's second-largest exporter of agricultural products and one of the world's leading producers of vegetables and fruit. In 2011, the total value of Dutch agricultural exports amounted to nearly ϵ_{73} billion. Ornamental products, meat and dairy products are the top 3 export products traded with other EU countries. For trade with non-EU countries, the top 3 consists of dairy products, cereal products (including starch) and drinks.

The agro-food sector adds value to the economy and provides employment. In 2010, the agricultural complex corresponded to approximately 10% of the total

added value and national employment in the Netherlands (see Table 1).⁵⁰ Roughly half of these activities (4.9% of GDP) are, to a greater or lesser extent, directly related to agriculture and horticulture, including the related input and processing industries. The other half of the agricultural complex comprises a range of activities based on imported raw materials, and also agricultural and agro-based services including horticulturists and forestry.

	(EUR BILLION)		(% OF GDP)	
	2001 (prel	2010 iminary)	2001 (pre	2010 liminary)
Activities based on foreign agricultural raw materials [1]	15.3	22.4	3.8	4.3
Pasture-based livestock farming (2)	6.1	7.2	1.5	1.4
Glass-horticulture (3)	4.7	5.6	1.2	1.1
Arable farming (4)	4.0	5.4	1.0	1.0
Intensive livestock farming (5)	5.1	5.4	1.3	1.0
Forestry, horticulturists and agricultural services (6)	3.8	4.3	1.0	0.8
Arable horticulture (7)	1.7	2.2	0.4	0.4
Total agro-food cluster	40.6	52.5	10.2	10.0
p.m. Agrocomplex based on domestic agricultural raw materials	21.5	25.8	5.4	4.9

TABEL 1: GROSS VALUE ADDED OF THE DUTCH AGRICULTURAL COMPLEX, 2001 AND 2010 (RANK) (SOURCE: BERKHOUT AND ROZA, 2012)

Agro-food clusters of substantial strength

The agriculture and food clusters are linked in several ways. As a result, the statistical presentation in subclusters is necessarily arbitrary, and a ranking of subclusters to identify star performers is equally difficult. Keeping this caveat in mind, the three clusters with the highest value added are identified as the most relevant clusters for this chapter. These are imported materials, dairy farming and glass horticulture; a set that covers approximately 60% of agricultural GDP.

- 1 The value creation from internationally-acquired raw materials for use other than in Dutch agriculture (i.e. as inputs to the Dutch food industry or for export) contributes to 4.3% of GDP. Within the agricultural complex based on international raw materials, the largest contribution in terms of value added comes from the processing of materials by the food industry (€9 billion), followed by the supply of inputs and services (€8.2 billion), and finally marketing and distribution (€5.2 billion). Key clusters in the processing industry include fat and oil, and liquor and tobacco.
- 2 Pasture-based livestock farming, which is dominated by the dairy cluster, contributes 1.4% to GDP (€7.2 billion) and 14% to the added value of the agricultural complex. A small share of the cluster consists of cattle farming. This cluster holds strong linkages to intensive livestock farming (10.2% of agricultural GDP) through the input markets. As both sectors source imported feedstock from the feed industry, dairy farming contributes feed and calves to the veal cluster, and so on.
- 3 The glass-horticulture complex contributes 1.1% to GDP (€5.6 billion). In this cluster, the bulk of end products proceed directly to consumer markets without further processing. As a result, primary production dominates the glass-horticulture cluster, indicated by a contribution of just under 60% of value added. Supply follows at 35%. The share of processing and distribution is limited.

2.2 Critical imports of agricultural commodities and raw materials from non-EU regions

Critical imports are defined as agricultural commodities and raw materials with a high value added per unit of imports for which few sourcing options exist within the EU.

In terms of macronutrients (carbohydrates, protein), micronutrients (zinc, iron, vitamins), and soil nutrients (i.e. fertilizer components), there are only a limited number of regions in the world that produce the bulk of the world's food, feed and mineral supply. The uncertainties with respect to the securing of Dutch critical imports for the future are to a large extent linked to the developments in these regions.

As much as 4.3% of the Dutch economy is directly related to the supply, processing, and marketing of agricultural raw materials imported by the food and feed industry. In addition, the feed suppliers to the dairy and intensive livestock farming clusters depend strongly on agricultural and mineral imports, as over 95% of the agricultural raw material for the feed- and grain-processing industry is sourced through imports.⁵¹

The value of products imported by the Dutch agricultural sector grew to €48.3 billion in 2011.⁵² For trade within the EU, the most important traded products are meat, dairy, cereals, seeds, pulses, and potatoes. For trade with non-EU countries, fruit, nuts, and spices are ranked highest, followed by coffee, tea, cacao, and margarine, fats, and oils. Feed imports consist of a flexible range of bulk goods to deliver the appropriate protein, fat and fibre content. Finally, soy beans are among the largest feed stocks that are imported.

In terms of non-factor input, crop nutrients like nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium are important to consider. The Netherlands is a large producer of all kinds of fertilizers, based either on nitrogen, potash or phosphorus ('single fertilizers') or on a combination of nutrients. The Netherlands depends entirely on the import of potash, as no potash mines exist within the Netherlands. The world's largest reserves of potash are located in Canada and Russia. For phosphorus, the Netherlands is a net importer as well. Within the EU, only Finland possesses large reserves of phosphorus. Recovering phosphorus is a possible way for the Netherlands to lessen its import dependency, but this is a costly procedure.

2.3 Risks to Dutch agribusiness that relate to import dependency

This section explores the possible risks to the Dutch agribusiness sector along three risk vectors: economic, environmental, and political risks. The appropriate definition of risks relates to a likely scenario that importers in Dutch agribusiness are unable to source (or secure physical access to through derivatives) raw material for critical imports through open markets, commodity exchange, or business-to-business contracts. As a major simplification, these risks will be discussed as separate categories, although in many cases the ramifications across these various dimensions will amplify risk levels.

Economic risk

Economic risk relates to excessive price increases in the market beyond the management capabilities of the importer, for example using hedging instruments. At its most extreme, price levels will prohibit trade. Following this line of reasoning, there are two relevant dimensions of economic risk in relation to the price formation of commodity imports into the Dutch agro-food sector. The first is the extent to which market concentration gives way to supplier (oligopoly) or buyer power (monopsony) in setting prices and the negotiation of deals. The second dimension is the extent to which importers in the Netherlands have sourcing options within the EU market, as this provides important fall-back options. Table 2 provides indications of the geopolitical profile of five commodity groups, largely based on in-house expert judgement. The commodities listed are important raw materials for the top 3 clusters identified above, which are imported from non-EU regions.

Several strands of economic risk can be distinguished. The first types of risk are price rises over time as a result of demand growth outpacing productivity growth or extraction rates. This is the key pricing mechanism that determines prices for land-intensive crops and finite minerals. As outlook studies show, such price increases are not hypothetical. Moreover, agricultural markets are known to be fragile in general, as the differences between shortage and surplus are small and can quickly change, creating severe price swings. A specific subset of these risks relates to strong competition for resources, which drives farm-gate (or mine-gate) prices up. In addition, grain traders and mineral producers have some leverage to influence global prices in the short term through stockpiling. The trade in agricultural commodities and minerals (for example, grains and soy beans) is dominated by a handful of trading companies. In the case of minerals, trade is concentrated in the hands of only a few producer countries. Again, the bargaining power of Dutch producers is limited because of the relatively small volumes of imports.

COMMODITY GROUP	ECONOMIC SIGNIFICANCE	DIMENSIONS OF E RELATION TO PRI	CURRENT TOP 5 SOURCING COUNTRIES OF RAW MATERIAL #	
	IMPORT VOLUME/ VALUE ADDED PER UNIT OF IMPORTS*	GLOBAL MARKET CONCENTRATION	SOURCING OPTIONS IN THE EUROPEAN UNION	
Fruit, nuts and spices	High / high	Competitive, integrated supply chains	Limited (for specific tropical fruit and spices) to fair/good as most fruit, nuts and spices have good substitutes that grow in the EU	Fruits and nuts: South Africa Chile Brazil United States Costa Rica Spices: Vietnam Indonesia China India Brazil
Coffee, tea and cocoa	High / high	Few producer regions, strong market concentration	None (tropical commodity)	Cocoa:^ Côte d'Ivoire Ghana Cameroon Nigeria Dominican Republic
Margarine, fats and oils (incl. palm oil)	High / fair	Several producer regions, land use constraints	Fair (substitute vegetable oil crops)	Indonesia Malaysia Philippines Papua New Guinea United States
Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium	High / high	Few producer regions, strong market concentration	None for phosphorus, limited for other	Israel Russian Federation Norway United States Tunisia
Coarse grains and soy bean for animal feed	Fair / fair	Strong market concentration, land use constraints, GM regulations create segmented markets	EU supply insufficient to meet EU demand	Soy bean, incl. oil cakes: Brazil United States Australia Paraguay Argentina Grains: Ukraine Brazil Argentina Thailand United States

2011 Import values (cif prices) from non-EU regions, source : UN COMTRADE data.

^ The top 5 countries for coffee (not roasted) are Brazil, Vietnam, Honduras, Peru, Costa Rica, and for tea Sri Lanka, China, India, United States, Argentina

TABLE 2: GEOPOLITICAL PROFILE OF AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES

(* SOURCE: PRELIMINARY EXPERT JUDGEMENT BY LEI)

Second, Dutch agribusiness will suffer as a result of price fluctuations which exceed the 'normal' level, rendering company instruments to address market fluctuations such as hedging obsolete. In international agribusiness, there is a wide body of evidence on vertical integration, i.e., the reduction of the number of operators in a supply chain. Classical examples refer to the integration of fertilizer and plant protection chemicals with the production of propagation material, which was driven by a control of supplier power and desire to reduce R&D expenditures. The fertilizer industry features a limited number of transnational corporations. There is also anecdotal evidence on integration with the aim of reducing risk and increasing stability in a volatile market environment. Recent research on price evolution and price transmission indicates that input and output prices can diverge and/or respond to each other in a lagged way. This creates cycles in profitability, in particular in agricultural subsectors characterized by small margins, thus disturbing investment and innovation patterns.

A particular risk represents the asynchronous approval of tolerances for low-level presence of genetically modified (GM) organisms, particularly in feed stocks such as soy bean and corn. The EU is lagging behind other major soy bean and corn importers such as China in the approval of minimal traces of GM contaminations in import consignments. There is a risk that the sourcing of grains for food and feed use in the EU will be constrained if the markets for EU-approved feed stocks become tight.⁵³ In particular, this risk is amplified as Argentina, Brazil, and other producer regions switch massively to GM varieties that are not approved in the EU. Rising feed costs will certainly undermine the competitiveness of the cluster around intensive livestock farming in the Netherlands, which has been operating on low farm-gate prices and low profit margins over many years.

Third, rising energy and/or carbon prices affect the costs of transport and place a penalty on cross-border trade over longer distance, thus affecting the sourcing options for importers. Trade costs are made up of freight and insurance costs, border taxes, customs procedures and licensing (or their time equivalent). At present such costs are relatively low. However, when energy prices rise, the geographical length of a global supply chain may become a restricting factor. Moreover, carbon trading schemes may provide a penalty for sourcing over long distances (e.g., food miles). This may affect the competitiveness of parts of the Dutch agro-food cluster that add limited value to imported raw material, the feed sector in particular.

Environmental risk

Depletion and abandonment of agricultural land is one of the environmental risks cited in the literature. Another risk is biodiversity loss and ecological decline (i.e., the erosion of ecosystem functionality). Because of the interdependence among ecosystems and agriculture, ecological decline can also lead to diminishing agricultural productivity.

Together with drought and desertification, land degradation is increasingly considered a global problem, because its extent and impacts are increasingly affecting environmental and social vulnerability.⁵⁴ Land degradation does not pose, at least in the short term, such a problem for the supply certainty of soy, given that large-scale production of soy beans takes place in countries where land is relatively abundant, partly as a result of deforestation (for example, Argentina and Brazil). That being said, deforestation can have important socio-economic consequences, which in turn have a negative impact on local food security (see Annex Chapter 2 case study on soy beans). Land grabbing can contribute and accelerate deforestation.

A third pronounced environmental risk is climate change. Rising temperatures and changing precipitation levels associated with climate change may have a localized adverse impact on crops, soils livestock and pests. Higher temperatures reduce crop yields and encourage the proliferation of weeds, plant diseases, and pests.⁵⁵ According to some estimates, by 2085, climate change could result in the loss of 11% of arable land in developing countries. For Africa, this estimate is even higher.⁵⁶Although climate change could lead to gains in yields and cultivated area for some crops and regions, the overall impacts on agricultural production are projected to be highly negative, with increasing food prices intensifying the risk of hunger.⁵⁷ Vulnerabilities associated with climate change include food insecurity and increased poverty.

Other environmental risks cited in the literature are stratospheric ozone depletion, acid deposition, deforestation, overuse and pollution of fresh water supplies, fishery decline and atmospheric pollution. Most of these risks however are not directly related to agriculture, with the exception of overuse and pollution of fresh water supplies.

Political risk

Political risk relates to effects on the security of supply of importing countries as a result of decisions taken at the political level of commodity exporting countries. Section 1.2 already mentions resource nationalism to describe a situation in which governments aim to strengthen national control over natural resources and align their natural resource policies more closely with the national interest. The prevalence of expropriation and resource nationalism is expected to increase and has been identified as a key risk for 2013.⁵⁸A number of different types of political risk, of which the first two can occur as symptoms of resource nationalism, can be distinguished.

First, commodity-exporting countries can decide to restrict the exports of raw materials. One way this is done is through the establishment of (high) taxes on exported raw materials; a decision which drives up global prices and limits supply as a result (see Annex 2, case study on cacao).

Second, vertical integration in commodity-exporting countries (see also the paragraph on economic risk) carries the risk that exports increasingly take the form of processed goods, thus limiting the export of raw materials. For consuming countries with a heavy presence in the commodity processing industry, this means a tightening of raw material supplies (see Annex 2, case studies on cacao and soy beans).

Third, civil conflict can act as a major 'shock' to the exports of raw materials. Examples include the disruptions in the supply of cacao from Ivory Coast in the aftermath of the 2010 presidential elections, the drop in the supply of phosphate rock from North Africa after the Arab Spring, and the current halt in phosphate rock exports from Syria due to the ongoing civil war (see Annex 2, case study on cacao and Annex 3, case study on phosphate). Political instability can also be a risk factor for security of demand and hamper the exports of product from the Netherlands. For example, one-quarter of seed potatoes from the Netherlands is exported to North Africa and the Middle East. Exports to Libya and Syria fell as a result of instability.⁵⁹

Fourth, a high demand for commodities in large emerging economies can prompt a reorientation of trade flows to regions of high demand. This can come at the expense of other high-consuming regions such as Europe (see Annex 2, case study on soy beans). Finally, a high demand for cash crops can cause governments and farmers in commodity-producing countries to value the production of these crops over traditional agriculture, often diverting land away from (local) food production and placing local food supply under pressure (see Annex 2, case study on soy beans).

Response time to risk factors

From an economic point of view, risk cannot be dealt with isolated from a time horizon (see Figure below). The essential issue here is that a well-functioning economy allows for adjustment and substitution (the Rs: Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Replace, and Redesign). This point can be illustrated by the difference between the short-run and long-run economic damage to the EU's animal production sectors caused by asynchronous approval policies regarding genetically modified protein products (including soy) between the EU and its trading partners. Whereas the short-run impacts could be detrimental to the EU's pigs and poultry sectors, the longer-run impacts, which were still significant, differed from the short-run ones by an order of magnitude (being only 25% of the short-run impacts on prices). Factors explaining this differential were the time needed to displace one input for another, time needed to develop alternative markets for sourcing and time needed to pass on cost increases in the primary meat producing sector to later stages in the supply chain and to final consumers. Also taking into account the study of Jansen et al., the adjustment time could be derived to be about 4 to 5 years. 60 After this time the impact will approximate the long-run impact. Responsive polices to risks, bridging the short run and allowing the involved sectors to adjust are very important.



FIGURE 2: RISK PERIODS FOLLOWING A SHOCK (SOURCE: NOWICKI ET AL, 2010)

3 Opportunities for the Netherlands

This chapter provides an assessment of the potential bargaining capital of the Netherlands and how this may be instrumental in securing access to raw materials for the agro-food sector. First, the chapter looks at the particular strengths of the Dutch agro-food cluster in the international market (3.1). Next, the chapter discusses several options to capitalize on these particular strengths in the sourcing regions of critical imports for the Netherlands (3.2).

3.1 What are the strengths the Dutch agro-food sector has to offer?

Recently, stakeholders in the agro-food cluster were asked to reflect on the international orientation of the cluster in preparation of the strategies of the Dutch topsectors.¹ Both the topsectors (Horticulture & Propagation Materials and Agro-Food) identified expanding the activities outside the European home market as a main mission. The Netherlands is already a leading exporter of a wide variety of goods and services to the world market. At present, 20% of agro-food exports are destined for regions outside the EU, mainly Asia (6% of exports); the trade comprises mainly dairy products, beverages, coffee, and tea, as well as flowers and other floriculture products. As the agriculture and food markets in the emerging economies mature, the potential for expanding the export position of the Netherlands is growing, especially in the following areas.

Exporting high-value consumer products and genetic material

The production of bulk agricultural products, such as sugar or milk powder, is no longer a key strength of the Dutch agro complex, as decades of rising labour

¹ Agro-food, Horticulture and propagation materials, High Tech, Energy, Logistics, the Creative Industry, Life sciences, Chemicals and Water are selected as priority sectors for Dutch government. Each topsector has mapped out various opportunities and challenges, and presented action plans detailing their ambitions and their approach. See the documentation on the website of the topsectoren (http://www.top-sectoren.nl/).

costs and strengthening environmental regulations have eroded the Dutch competitiveness on these markets. The portfolio of exports toward EU and non-EU markets has gradually shifted to high-value consumer products and genetic material. The export values for seed potatoes, for example, have surpassed those for table potatoes, and the same applies for infant formula and milk powder; dairy cattle and animal genetic material; tomato sauce; and bulk tomatoes. The key to this successful upwards movement in the value chain lies in the competitiveness and innovative strength of the primary agricultural sector and a strong level of integration with the advanced food processing industry.

Direct investment into emerging food and beverage industries

Knowledge and innovation, embodied in higher-value agro-food products, are increasingly being considered in themselves as export products for the Netherlands for which there is a large untapped potential on international markets.⁶¹ This implies a shift from the export of agricultural products to the export of agricultural services and inputs; and a greater orientation towards foreign direct investment in emerging agricultural markets. Already for some time, the Rabobank has been signalling the rising importance of partnerships between Dutch companies and firms in the region. ⁶² These partnerships often relate to supply-chain integration and particularly involve the food and beverage industry. The Dutch food and beverage industry has dramatically increased its stock of foreign direct investment outside the EU, US and Japan. Compared to the decade before the financial crisis (2000-2009), the volume of FDI stock of food and beverage industry has more than doubled, from €6.0 billion FDI in between 2000 and 2009 to €14.9 billion in 2010-2011.63 In the early 2000s, according to the most recent data from the Nederlandsche Bank, the bulk (55-70%) of FDI stock was located in South and Central America.

Developing sustainable and efficient supply chains for the urban consumer

The topsectors Horticulture & Propagation Materials and Agro-food identify as their main strength in the international market their ability to upgrade current agricultural and horticultural systems toward efficient, integrated food clusters that can serve the expanding cities in the emerging markets.⁶⁴ With the growing concentrations of wealth and population in middle-income countries, urban markets for fresh products are maturing. Inputs and expertise from the Netherlands can be instrumental in the advancement of local agricultural supply chains for dairy, vegetables and other high-value products. For example, the strategy document by Horticulture & Propagation Materials identifies new market prospects for Dutch suppliers (engineering, plant material, propagation material, greenhousing), trade companies and services in the field of education and training, (cultivation) advice, consultancy, logistics, etc. Similar opportunities are identified by the Agro-food sector.

Moreover, both these topsectors have articulated their ambition to move into partnerships with local entities to support the upgrading of existing food supply systems toward greater productivity and efficiency in resource use. The Agrofood topsector offers a partnership on "customized system solutions" for solving problems of sustainable food production and supply. These system solutions "consist of a combined package of products, knowledge, technology and services that fit local needs and conditions. They thus contain all the elements necessary to produce the products needed including the development of the associated supply chains." As such, expertise on financial services and retailer expertise in logistics and marketing could be combined with the hardware to set up a dairy processing plant to help deliver an integrated agricultural cluster on a model as efficient and innovative as the Netherlands.

In sum, the key bargaining capital of the Netherlands is its agricultural knowledge that runs across the board of the three areas identified above. The Dutch strength lies in its (self-acclaimed) role as champion in the development of sustainable and efficient production systems, notably around urban concentrations where the demand for fresh, high-value foods is most prominent. Both topsectors focus heavily on the emerging markets. The intention is to target, in addition to the BRIC countries, several growth countries nearby (Turkey) and further away (Indonesia, Vietnam, Kenya) where middle classes are firmly established. In addition, there is the intention to expand activities in developing countries that receive official development assistance from the Netherlands, albeit largely on a pre-competitive basis.

3.2 Opportunities to use Dutch strengths in mitigating supply risks

What potential economic leverage does the strengths of the Dutch agro-food sector offer in the sourcing regions for critical imports of agricultural raw material? This section provides a quick scan, with examples of the products and markets that were identified as essential for the Dutch agro-food sector. In chapter 2 we identified three groups of commodities and related sourcing regions, where the Netherlands may wish to secure its access to locally produced commodities or minerals. These three regions and resources will require different types of strategies in positioning Dutch strengths to secure Dutch interests.

Contributing to food security and value chain integration in cacao producing countries

For many tropical commodities such as cacao, tea, spices and palm oil, the Dutch industry is fully dependent on producers elsewhere in the world. This section looks at the opportunities for cooperation with countries from which the Netherlands sources most of its cacao, namely Cameroon, Ivory Coast, Ghana and Nigeria. In the tropical, low-income regions where cocoa beans are grown and harvested, population growth and the desire to improve the food security generate a demand for Dutch knowledge and expertise on how to sustainably increase productivity and to add value to the harvested crops through better integration in global value chains. Increases in agricultural productivity in this region will require the use of high-value input and farming systems and the upgrading of agricultural logistics in order to reduce of post-harvest losses. The propagation of material and operational expertise in Dutch supply chains can be considered as strategic assets in addressing this challenge. The added value of Dutch knowledge and expertise in this area is demonstrated by, for example, the presence of Royal Ahold in Ghana. For several years, the Netherlands-based global retailer corporation Ahold has integrated sustainability in the daily operations of the growers of fruit and vegetables. Another example is the Dutch involvement in cocoa production, in particular through supply chain integration programs, such as the African Cocoa Initiative (see Annex to Chapter 3).

An additional opportunity for the Dutch agro-food sector is to create synergies between cash-crop production and food security in these regions. As populations expand, national governments are under pressure to improve food selfsufficiency without compromising income and foreign exchange revenues from the cash-crop sector. Being involved in improving the food security of domestic populations could enhance the level of cooperation with the national government in the cocoa-producing regions and, consequently, may help to safeguard the economic interests of the Dutch agro-food cluster.
Scientific partnerships with major soy bean producers

The competitiveness of intensive livestock farming in the Netherlands is critically dependent upon low-priced feed input. As an example, the case of soy beans has been examined, which are heavily sourced from US, Brazil and Argentina. The soy bean sectors in US, Brazil and Argentina are generally integrated in advanced primary production and processing clusters, supported by a well-functioning agricultural knowledge and innovation system.

Presumably, the main opportunity for cooperation lies in fostering scientific partnerships focused on advancing the efficiency, productivity and sustainability of production. In Brazil and Argentina, there has been a stated interest in the Dutch operational and logistical models for agro-food supply chains, particularly in connection with a knowledge agenda and capacity development. Taking a broader perspective on productivity improvement, the Netherlands, and the EU at large, possess a location and knowledge advantage vis-à-vis the African continent. Where previously the Dutch "triple D" approach to the military mission in Afghanistan was heralded by the US, in future the "golden triangle" could make headway as a model for agricultural development. Both the US and Brazil show interest in establishing a global partnership for improving the performance of the global agricultural system, particularly in Africa and Eastern Europe — two key regions where large untapped agricultural potential remains. This presents an avenue for the Netherlands to strengthen its bargaining position in the global resource game.

Supply chain development and water management in phosphateproducing countries

Fertilizer is a critical input for all arable and glass-house agriculture and horticulture activities in the Netherlands. The fertilizer on the Dutch market is partly produced from imported raw materials, including phosphate rock, and partly imported as processed fertilizer. There are very few sourcing regions for the major fertilizing minerals. An increasing share of phosphate rock and fertilizer is expected to come from Morocco.⁶⁵

Opportunities for closer cooperation with Morocco are positive. There are substantial trade relations with the country, in particular through value chains for fresh vegetables, oranges, melons, and other fruit — which are channelled in bulk through the Rotterdam and Schiphol ports towards the EU hinterland. Besides our logistic assets, Dutch expertise on fresh fruit and vegetables and supply chain logistics may be equally valuable. There is potentially a large interest in Dutch expertise in engineering water management, in order to make maximum use of available freshwater resources (increase irrigation, prevent salinization, etc). Many water-related investments and infrastructures will also contribute to improve the preconditions for agricultural growth. Freshwater management and integral waste management represent an opportunity to treat water and waste originating from urbanized areas more adequately with the potential to improve health and sanitation. Opportunities for strategic cooperation with Morocco are discussed in further detail in the Annex to Chapter 3.

In sum, the key opportunities for the Netherlands in sourcing countries of critical materials lie in establishing public-private partnerships that are aimed at finding system solutions, that offer flexible and sustainable solutions to local emerging issues. In addition, the Netherlands has the knowlegde and expertise to look at local agro-food challenges from a value-chain approach. In public-private partnerships, the Netherlands can offer knowledge on how to reduce costs and inefficiencies but also on how to make bigger additions of value.

4 Conclusion: perspectives for action

Most of the world's food supply is currently organized in long and complex supply chains. Food ingredients travel many miles and pass several stages of processing and trading before they arrive on our plate. This has brought an impressively differentiated food supply, at ever declining costs, to an increasing part of the expanding global population. At the same time, analysts and policymakers have raised concern over the robustness of the food system in the face of shock. A local harvest failure or regime change can have strong repercussions on regional and even global agricultural markets.66 The interdependencies and compounded risk of problems in stability, quantity, quality and price of the raw agricultural materials supply have been addressed at the level of Europe⁶⁷ and Netherlands.⁶⁸ Being at the heart of the international trading system, the Netherlands is prone to several types of risk.⁶⁹ A vulnerability assessment or risk analysis identifies where the major risks lie and what can be done to mitigate the impact of such hazards. This report is a first assessment of the need for an encompassing research and policy perspective on the geopolitical dimension of supply security for the Netherlands. On this basis we derive several policy recommendations.

4.1 Towards a new perspective on risk mitigation

Although the Dutch agro-food sector is well integrated into the world market and the direct risk of absolute food scarcity in the Netherlands is low, geopolitical risks are prevalent and should not be neglected. More awareness is necessary that scenarios are not unthinkable under which the Dutch agro-food sector has difficulty in adequately sourcing raw material imports, either through open markets, commodities exchanges or business-to-business contracts. To create this awareness, one of the first things the government could do is to contribute to the necessary information for proper risk assessments, for example by doing studies that identify risks (and solutions) for specific subsectors of the agro-food cluster. This report follows a more general approach and describes different economic, environmental and political risks to the supply security of Dutch importers. These risks are related and can amplify each other. From this perspective, the Dutch government has an important role to play in devising strategies that focus on mitigating supply risks. Traditionally, the Netherlands has had a strongly normative approach to international cooperation. Today's international playing field, however, also requires a more strategic approach. To reconcile the two, the Dutch strategy should go beyond simply achieving the largest supply security at the lowest cost. The Netherlands should distance itself from resource nationalism and aggressive overseas policies to secure food and raw materials, which sometimes hurt the local economy or local food security. The Netherlands can set itself apart by avoiding shifting the burden of securing the interests of the Dutch agro-food sector on to developing countries and by instead focusing on cooperative solutions aimed at creating long-term win-win situations that benefit both the Netherlands and the sourcing countries. Reciprocity should be at the heart of the Dutch risk-mitigation strategy.

The urgency of the problem requires that the Dutch government take action at several levels simultaneously. The policy recommendations below indicate how the Netherlands can mitigate supply risk at various levels of action, such as the multilateral, the EU, and national levels. This report argues that taking actions at the multilateral level is not contradictory with simultaneously pursuing bilateral partnerships.

4.2 Policy recommendations

Given the policy objectives of the Dutch government to take care of the interests of Dutch consumers and producers of agro-food products and to support a safe and stable world characterized by fair international relationships, a number of policy recommendations can be formulated.

1 Maintain domestic food production to sustain knowledge and innovation base

At the EU level, the Dutch government should support reforms of the CAP that aim to maintain a resilient, resource-efficient food supply in Europe and encourage innovation for sustainable production. First of all, maintaining a level of European food self-sufficiency can serve as cushion against interruptions of food supply. In some circles concerns exist about food security in the EU in the long run.⁷⁰ Others, however, put forward that there is no reason to doubt about the food supply in the EU during the coming decades.⁷¹ The

different perceptions of EU food security are affected by expectations about how the EU agricultural system will respond to global- and policy- related drivers.²² Uncertainties about these responses reveal the need for a thorough analysis of the future development of the EU agricultural system and an assessment of whether a revision of the EU food strategy for the future would be necessary.

What is clear, however, is that maintaining domestic production is also necessary to sustain an advanced agricultural knowledge system and to remain innovative in the field of agro-food.⁷³ This is especially important since knowledge and innovation are increasingly a source of export revenue and lie at the basis of the competitive position of the Netherlands abroad. In recent years, Dutch exports have shifted away from bulk agricultural products to high-value consumer products, agricultural services and inputs, and foreign direct investment in emerging agricultural markets. The Dutch government should support the maintenance of domestic production and innovation so that the Netherlands can benefit from its competitive advantage in providing high-value consumer products, genetic material and efficient and productive food-supply systems. There is an additional geopolitical motive to sustain an advanced agricultural knowledge system: there is tremendous value in having a platform for a strong Dutch involvement in unlocking underutilized agricultural potential in the world.

2 Focus on top sourcing countries of critical raw materials and explore new sourcing opportunities

The Dutch government should focus on extending partnership with the key countries from which the Dutch agro-food sector imports critical materials. Critical materials are defined as agricultural commodities and raw materials with a high value added per unit of imports and for which few sourcing options exist within the EU. The critical materials for the Dutch agro-food sector can be divided into five groups: 1) fruit, nuts and spices; 2) coffee, tea and cocoa; 3) margarine, fats and oils; 4) nitrogen, potassium and phosphate; and 5) coarse grains, soy protein and other feedstock. Table 2 in chapter 2 identifies the top-5 sourcing countries for each group of critical materials. Of the total of 26 countries on the list, some countries, see table 3 below, are a top supplier for more than one resource and are therefore of special importance to the Dutch agro-food sector.

COUNTRIES	FRUIT, NUTS AND SPICES	COFFEE, TEA AND COCOA	MARGARINE, FATS AND OILS	NITROGEN, POTASSIUM AND PHOSPHATE	COARSE GRAINS AND SOY PROTEIN
Brazil	Х				Х
Indonesia	Х		х		
Nigeria		х		Х	
United States	х		х	Х	х

TABLE 3: COUNTRIES FROM WHICH THE NETHERLANDS IMPORTS MORE THAN ONE GROUP OF CRITICAL RAW MATERIALS

In addition to focusing on key sourcing countries, the Dutch government should explore the opportunities for the Dutch agro-food sector to find alternative suppliers. To this end, the Dutch government could publish sectorspecific market-outlook analyses. The current geographical sourcing pattern is the result of both prevailing market dynamics and a gradual development of transnational supply chain relations over the past decades. In looking for new alternative suppliers, it may be interesting to look through a 'climate lens'. The current list of top sourcing countries for the Netherlands can be grouped into two different climate zones; the temperate climate zone and the tropical climate zone. The Netherlands imports fruit, vegetables and minerals from both zones. Soy beans come particularly from the moderate climate zone and coffee, cacao, tea and palm oil from the tropical climate zone. It is worth exploring whether there are alternative regions closer to Europe with similar climatic conditions for the production of these agricultural commodities, such as the Black Sea region.⁷⁴

3 Reinvent multilateral cooperation and move beyond promoting open markets

The Dutch government should continue the existing policy of promoting open and stable markets in international forums such as the World Trade Organization (WTO) and the OECD, but it should also aim to reinvent multilateral cooperation on food, agriculture and raw materials. The current multilateral framework, especially for trade, does not adequately serve the grand challenges that face society, nor the interests of the Dutch agro-food sector. One example of why the existing WTO disciplines are unfit for the present landscape is that WTO legislation tilts towards the favor of resource-owners and export countries. Although quantitative restrictions are banned under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) 1994 rules, notable exceptions have made it relatively easy for countries to implement export restrictions. For example, Article XI paragraph 2(a) states that the prohibition on export restrictions does not extend to "restrictions temporarily applied to prevent or relieve critical shortages of foodstuffs or other products essential to the exporting contracting party." Key terms such as "temporarily" and "critical shortages" are not well defined.⁷⁵ Lenience on export restrictions ignores the rights of importing countries. The Netherlands should push for a critical review of trade legislation, an imposed limitation on the use of export restrictions, and more transparency in markets, where necessary in combination with adequate stockholding provisions.

The development of a new multilateral framework that brings together suppliers and importing countries to find cooperative solutions for the growing nexus of food, agriculture and raw materials would be ideal. Such a coalition is unlikely to develop swiftly given the prevailing international conditions. The dynamics explained in chapter 1 make it inprobable that producing countries would be willing to participate in a framework that could potentially limit their freedom of action and undermine their interests. A regional approach aimed at bringing together the importing countries is more likely to be successful.

The Dutch government should explore opportunities to increase multilateral cooperation between importing countries. One of the objectives of this multilateral cooperation should be to promote transparency on available supplies of raw materials and factors that may contribute to demand and supply shocks. In addition, cooperation should focus on improving resource efficiency and some form of governance on sustainable resource management. Solutions to the challenges of climate change, failing research & innovation systems, and diet transitions need to come from global cooperative effort.⁷⁶ A recent Chatham House publication report calls, in this regard, for a coalition of 30 of the most substantive importers, exporters and producers to embark on a dialogue on global resource use.⁷⁷ Various initiatives that contribute in this direction can be supported financially and politically. The Netherlands should

support and can build on existing multilateral mechanisms and regulations, such as the Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (GAFSP) of the World Bank, the FAO's Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security, the Montpellier panel, etc.

4 Complement multilateral efforts with strategic partnerships

The efforts at the multilateral level described above should be complemented with efforts to develop strategic partnerships with countries where both the Dutch agro-food complex has valuable knowledge to offer and from which the Netherlands imports critical materials. These partnerships can be forged at the EU level or bilaterally, depending on existing agreements and the opportunities for new partnerships. The partnerships should revolve around innovation for sustainable production in the agro-food sector and be based on reciprocity, i.e., by creating long-term win-win situations for both the Netherlands and the sourcing country.

An example of such win-win cooperation could be to help West African countries, such as Cameroon, Ivory Coast, Ghana and Nigeria, to improve local food security by providing the necessary knowledge about increasing agricultural productivity. In return for a stable and secure supply of cocoa, the Netherlands can offer high-value input and knowledge to improve farming systems and to upgrade the agricultural logistics and reduce post-harvest losses. Another opportunity lies in scientific partnerships with Argentina and Brazil where the Netherlands contributes knowledge on how to advance the efficiency, productivity and sustainability of the soy bean production in return for security of supply of soy beans. To secure the supply of fertilizers, the Netherlands could forge strategic partnerships with important producers of nitrogen, potassium, phosphate rock and processed fertilizer. As a growing share of phosphate will come from Morocco in the future, the Netherlands could strengthen cooperation beyond existing trade, which consist primarily of fruit and vegetables. In return for supplies of phosphate rock and fertilizer, the Netherlands can offer Morocco much-needed knowledge on fresh- and waste-water management, and integral waste management.78

5 Adopt a strategic perspective on sustainability

Sustainability is and should remain a key component of strategic cooperation in agriculture and raw materials. However, the Dutch government should

move beyond environmental motives to encourage sustainability and adopt a strategic vision on sustainability as means to mitigate supply disruption risks for the agro-food sector. This means first of all that the Netherlands should invest—and encourage the Dutch agro-food sector to invest—in resource efficiency and sustainable supply chains to avoid rapid resource depletion and to create long-term supply security. In addition, the Netherlands should use its good reputation for sustainability to gain access to resources and markets abroad. With IDH, the sustainable trade initiative, the Netherlands has gained international visibility when it comes to shared value creation through the implementation of sustainable trade solutions. A commitment to sustainable production and balanced supply-chain relations is also an insurance policy against allegations of being merely after a country's resources. Offering countries knowledge for sustainable production and supply chains should be an integral part of the win-win cooperation between the Netherlands and sourcing countries. Finally, the Netherlands should use sustainability as a trigger to involve the private sector in public-private partnerships that serve the interests of the Dutch agro-food sector. The Netherlands largely supports the efforts to develop certification schemes for agricultural commodities, such as sustainable soy and palm oil, and raw materials, such as tin. Whether through these Round Tables and certifications or other governance mechanisms, the Netherlands should aim to continue involvement in the global governance of sustainable raw materials production.

6 Start strategic dialogue with the agro-food sector

The Dutch government should engage the private sector in a dialogue about strategies to mitigate threats to the agro-food sector. This dialogue should initially focus on two issues but could be expanded. First, the Dutch government and the agro-food sector should devise strategies to shorten the response time of industry in case of supply disruptions. Economic damage resulting from supply disruptions will be more significant in the short run than in the long run, because in the long run industry will respond to the changed market conditions with adjustment policies (see section 2.3). However, implementing adjustment strategies costs time. Developing alternative markets for sourcing, finding substitutes, and passing on cost increases to later stages in the supply chain and final consumers does not happen overnight. Government support should focus on supporting the industry to shorten the response time in order to limit short term economic damage.

Second, the Dutch government and the agro-food sector should think about ways to improve the resilience of the industry. Ways of improving the resilience of the sector may include strategies which are preventive and which do not necessarily conform to market logic.For example, instead of cooperating with suppliers that offer the lowest market price, the Netherlands could seek suppliers that may be more expensive but offer supply guarantees. This example illustrates that the government and the agro-food sector should think together about potential trade-offs they are willing to make in achieving security of supply. Another preventive solution is to explore alternative sourcing regions and alternative crops and raw materials.

7 Integrate ago-food interests in economic diplomacy

Finally, the Dutch government should integrate the agro-food interest of the Netherlands into a comprehensive economic diplomacy strategy, which should be an integral part of Dutch foreign policy and development cooperation. To that effect, the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs should promote an interdepartmental and cross-sectoral dialogue with other ministries, in particular with the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Infrastructure and the Environment. Part of this strategic reorientation constitutes a shift away from idealistic motives behind international cooperation toward an emphasis on investment for mutual benefit.

It also means that a more systematic approach should be developed to identify which countries should be designated for international cooperation. The critical interdependencies in the area of food and agriculture should be integrated into this approach. This can be done by identifying per sector the top sourcing countries for critical imports. At the moment, the policy of the Dutch government focuses heavily on the emerging markets, several growth countries with an established middle class, and countries that receive official development assistance from the Dutch government. There are valid reasons to do so, but Dutch diplomacy should also serve the interest of the Dutch agro-food sector and target top sourcing countries that are currently not on the radar.

Annex 1

Protectionist Measures⁷⁹

Of all cereal production worldwide, only 10% is traded internationally.⁸⁰ Precisely because these commodity markets are 'thin' world prices respond strongly to relatively small changes in both policy and quantities traded.⁸¹ Whereas consumers spend around 40-70% of their budget on basic food, governments often aim to keep their domestic cereal markets stable and will respond to international price changes with measures to stabilize markets.⁸² Thus, when international food prices climbed steeply in 2007–2008, many countries reacted with trade measures to keep domestic prices low and to prevent exporters from selling on international markets. A survey on policy responses by 61 developing countries to the 2007-2008 price hike found that 25 countries implemented export restrictions to reduce food inflation in their domestic market and 43 countries reduced import tariffs to reduce their food import bill.⁸³ Argentina, Russia and India were among the major exporters that have curtailed their exports. Major importers that have reduced or eliminated food tariffs or taxes include Bangladesh, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Mexico and Turkey. In general, such policy decisions incur a high fiscal cost and are seen to limit agricultural investments into an expansion of supply.⁸⁴

According to estimates made by the World Bank, the introduction of trade restrictive measures on food accounted for one-quarter of all new trade restrictions imposed since the 2007-08 food-crisis.⁸⁵ As a result, trade policies appear as an important explanatory factor of the price peaks.⁸⁶ As stated by Headey: "we find that trade events potentially provide an explanation for how a tightening of the world food situation rapidly turned into a full-blown crisis."⁸⁷ The trade policies that followed the rise in rice prices in 2007–2008 are illustrative of this point (see Figure 3). Around the 2007–2008 price hike, there was an intense policy change aimed at either the curtailment of rice exports, or the reduction of import barriers. What proved particularly instrumental in normalizing markets was the decision by the government of Japan in early June 2008 to sell 300,000 tonnes of its surplus 'WTO' rice stocks to the Philippines. As a result, the price bubble in rice burst and world prices started to fall immediately thereafter.⁸⁸

More recent literature on the food price crisis has identified that ad hoc trade measures are among the major causes underlying the overshooting of prices beyond their equilibrium point (this is true of rice prices in particular).⁸⁹ Trade policies added additional instability to the actions of millions of farmers (often small-scale) and traders, who in reaction to rising prices started hoarding, thus raising domestic prices even further.



FIGURE 3: TRADE MEASURES IN THE RICE MARKET AROUND THE 2008 PRICE PEAK (SOURCE: HEADY, 2011)

Annex 2

Cacao

The Netherlands is one of the biggest importers of cacao beans worldwide—the basic ingredient required to make cocoa, a dark brown powder made from cacao beans, used to make chocolate and add a chocolate flavor to food and drinks. Around 20% of the global trade in cacao is conducted in Amsterdam, making it the world's biggest 'cacao port'. The Netherlands plays, alongside the US, also an important role in the processing of cacao beans, with around 13% of the global cacao processing industry located in the Netherlands.⁹⁰ In total, the sector employs over 7,000 people and has an annual turnover of €2.2 billion.⁹¹ A possible shortfall in the supply of cacao could thus carry serious consequences for the Dutch cacao processing industry. A study undertaken by CE Delft in 2011 estimates that a 50% cut in the supply of cacao to the Netherlands could cause prices for chocolate products to increase by around 40%, causing potentially €2 billion worth of economic damage.⁹²

A limited number of suppliers

As mentioned in Table 1, the global market for cacao is heavily concentrated. Over 70% of the market is in the hands of just four countries: Cameroon, Ivory Coast, Ghana and Nigeria. The biggest share of the market is controlled by Ivory Coast (around 35%).⁹³ Almost the entirety of Dutch imports (98%) comes directly from these countries, with Ivory Coast accounting for 32% of total imports, followed by Cameroon (24%), Nigeria (17%) and Ghana (15%).⁹⁴

Rising prices and signs of vertical integration

Figure 4 depicts the price development of cacao since 1990. Global prices have been steadily rising, particularly in recent years, inter alia, as a result of strong economic growth in the emerging economies, where a growing level of affluence has created a higher demand for chocolate products.⁹⁵



FIGURE 4: WORLD CACAO PRICES, US\$ PER KG (BASED ON WORLDBANK DATA)

Although high prices mean higher costs of imported beans for the Dutch cacao processing industry, a potentially more worrisome development is a trend of increased vertical integration in cacao-producing countries. For example, due a newly added domestic processing capacity, Ivory Coast became the second-largest cacao processing country, with about 400,000 tonnes of cacao processed in 2009–2010, just behind the Netherlands (470,000 tonnes) and surpassing both the US (382,000 tonnes) and Germany (361,000 tonnes).⁹⁶ Some sources claim that Ivory Coast is bent on increasing its cacao processing capacity to 50% of its annual crop in 2012, and up to 100% in the near future.⁹⁷ Such a development would make it increasingly harder for the Dutch cacao processing industry to acquire sufficient raw material from Ivory Coast.

Export restrictions and civil conflict

The drive toward vertical integration, however, is not the only worrisome development. Increasingly, African producers have taxed or charged their exports of cacao, which in turn drives up the price and limits supply. Ghana levies taxes on the export of cacao; Cameroon's export is subject to various fees; and Nigeria applies an administrative charge of US\$5 per ton of exported cacao.⁹⁸ Ivory Coast, however, represents the most striking example of state intervention. During the civil conflict that ravaged Ivory Coast from 2002 to 2007, several agricultural subsectors were affected. However, as the conflict was felt more strongly in some parts of the country than in others, the effects differed. Crops such as cotton and maize which are grown in the North, the area held by the rebel fighters, have been most severely affected. Cacao and coffee, which are grown in

the rain forests of the South, remained steady despite the conflict.⁹⁹ Nonetheless, the effects of the civil war on cacao have been seen in the resumption of export taxes and increased trader margins.¹⁰⁰

Civil conflict has been a recurring factor in Ivorian politics and the most consistent factor dictating policy and performance in Ivorian agriculture.¹⁰¹ The risk of instability remains high to this day. Indeed, HCSS calculations indicate Ivory Coast suffers from endemic corruption; an ineffective and weak government and rule of law; a lack of strong and reliable private sector regulations; and a limited possibility for the population to voice their grievances and hold governmental action to account.¹⁰² The persistent risks this situation carries to the cacao sector – and the Dutch cocoa processing industry in particular – were exemplified by the 2010 presidential elections, when former president Laurent Gbagbo refused to acknowledge his electoral defeat and occupied the presidential palace for several months thereafter. In response, the internationally recognized winner of the elections, Alassane Outtara, banned all cacao and coffee exports in order to choke off funding to his rival. Global prices for cacao soared as a result.¹⁰³

Soy

Measured over 2010-2011, the EU was the second biggest importer of soy beans in the world, just after China.¹⁰⁴ Within the EU, the Netherlands is responsible for just over 28% of the total amount of soy beans imported.¹⁰⁵ The total import value was more than €1,14 billion.¹⁰⁶ This is partly due to the strategic position of the Netherlands as a transit port; but also because of the Dutch agricultural sector's strong focus on the production of animal proteins, which requires large quantities of soy as feedstuff.107 About one third of the imported beans are exported, mainly to Germany and Belgium. The rest is crushed to extract the oil, which is (after further refinement) then partly exported to other EU countries.¹⁰⁸ The total added value of the consumption of soy as forage is estimated at €778 million, which corresponds to roughly 0.2% of total GDP.¹⁰⁹ The total amount of jobs in the different branches of the food industry, the production of animal feed and oil seeds in particular, is estimated at 8,800.110 Illustrative of the dependence of the Dutch economy on a small number of suppliers is the fact that if half of the soy beans imported to the Netherlands were no longer available, and therefore would have to be replaced by alternatives, the total economic damage would amount to €1,4 billion.¹¹¹

Strong market concentration

Figure 5 shows that the US, Brazil and Argentina combined, are responsible for more than 80% of the world's soy production.¹¹² Of these three, the US holds the largest share of the world market at just over 34%.¹¹³ The Netherlands imports its soy beans mainly from Brazil and to a lesser extent from the US. Imports from Argentina have been negligible in recent years.¹¹⁴



FIGURE 5: WORLD SOY PRODUCTION 2010-2011 (BASED ON WORLD BANK DATA)

To ensure trade would remain (largely) free, the European Community (EC) and the US negotiated a Memorandum of Understanding on Oilseeds (commonly referred to as the 'Blair House Agreement') during the 1992 GATT Uruguay Round.¹¹⁵

Increased demand from emerging economies

However, as mentioned above, Dutch imports come mainly from Brazil and to a lesser extent from the US. A worrisome development in this regard is that due to sharply rising Chinese soy bean imports (a key importer of Latin American soy beans), the demand for soy beans from this part of the world is set to grow strongly. Indeed, some analysts expect China to increase its imports of soy beans by as much as 43% in 2020.¹¹⁶ The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) goes even further than this by suggesting that Chinese soy bean imports will rise to 59% by 2021–2022 and will account for over 80% of the projected growth in global soy bean imports.¹¹⁷ Production levels will have to increase in order to meet demand. Since US production growth is limited because of land constraints, this enormous increase in production will have to be borne chiefly by Argentina and Brazil.¹¹⁸ With most of the Argentine exports already going to China¹¹⁹, this additional demand will increase competition over Brazilian soy beans. This development is of particular concern to the Netherlands, as Brazil is its primary export source for soy beans.¹²⁰

Implications of required production increase

Given the expected increase in soy production required to meet future demand, a number of issues should be taken into account. First of all, the global soy bean market is shaped and controlled by a relatively small number of international business conglomerates.¹²¹ The few players are: American-owned Archer Daniels Midland (ADM), Bunge and Cargill; and French owned Dreyfuss. Popularly referred to as the ABCD companies due to their names, these companies not only provide the fertilizer for the soy, but also dominate the processing industry that divides the beans into oil for food manufacturing and protein meal for animal feed.¹²² For example, in the last decade Cargill, ADM and Bunge are thought to have acquired about 80% of China's soya processing capacity.¹²³ Such a high level of market concentration means that these companies can potentially act as pricesetters on the global soy market and limit the possibilities for imports from alternative sources.

Second, increasing the production of soy carries big socio-economic implications, which may increase the risk of social instability. In order to enable production to grow, Latin American soy farmers are in desperate need for more agricultural ground. This quest to acquire more land, however, often leads to violent clashes with local communities and tribes over land rights.¹²⁴ Because customary land rights of local communities are often not, or only partially, recognized and governmental capacities to regulate the registering of land ownership are weak, public (forested) land is often occupied without obtaining the required official land titles.¹²⁵ Moreover, the expansion of soy production often directly (through forest conversion) or indirectly (through the opening of forests) contributes to forest degradation and further deforestation.¹²⁶ The decreasing availability of non-timber forest resources has a negative impact on local incomes and food security; and on indigenous communities, who for their livelihoods often depend on the availability of wildlife, fish, wild fruits, jungle rubber and other non-timber products.¹²⁷ Third, with a high expected demand for soy in the future, it is financially attractive to grow the crop. As a consequence, soy is increasingly grown on fields that were otherwise used to produce food for local markets, thus placing local food supply under pressure.¹²⁸ Moreover, local communities are facing a different problem as a result of the increased mechanization of the soy production. Mechanized soy production not only requires less labor, but also a different kind of labor, thus reducing employment possibilities for local communities. Due to the technical expertise required for mechanized soy production, local farmers, who are unskilled, lose employment opportunities to higher skilled workers, such as agronomists and mechanics.¹²⁹

Taken together, the above mentioned factors place limitations on the ability of Latin American soy farmers to further increase their production beyond a certain threshold. In light of the strong projected increase in demand coming from China, coupled with the inability of the US to increase its production levels, the Netherlands is likely to face higher prices for soy imports in the future. Furthermore, there is a greater risk of social instability in the producer regions of Latin America. In addition to higher prices, the Netherlands may therefore also experience supply disruptions as a result of instability.

Annex 3

The Africa Cocoa Initiative

The African Cocoa Initiative—a major collaboration between the World Cocoa Foundation, the US Agency for International Development, the government of the Netherlands and leading international cocoa buyers—was launched in Cameroon in July. The Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH) contributes expertise and certification. The initiative aims to increase productivity and sustainability in the sector by fostering public-private cooperative investments in cocoa and agriculture, improving the genetic quality and productivity of the cocoa varieties under cultivation, expanding farmer education and training programmes, and improving the agriculture input supply chains that serve farmers. The budget for the project stands at US\$13.8m (CFA7.3m) with plans to leverage at least US\$25m from the private sector over the duration of the initiative.¹³⁰

Phosphate

Phosphate rock is the primary source of phosphorus. The bulk of phosphate rock is used for global food production. Modern farming methods require the use of phosphate in fertilizers, which are used to produce sufficient quantities of food. Although the Dutch agricultural sector presently experiences a phosphate surplus, the Netherlands does not possess any significant phosphate rock resources of its own, and is thus almost entirely dependent on the import of the raw material as an input for its phosphate processing industry.¹³¹ Indeed, the bulk of imported phosphate rock (83%) is processed and re-exported as fertilizers; as inorganic chemicals (648,100 tonnes (t) of phosphorus pentoxide, or P_2O_5); as food for human consumption (185,500t P_2O_5); and to a lesser extent, as animal feed and manure (43,500t P_2O_5). Phosphate, therefore, is a vital resource for the Dutch agro-food industry.¹³²

A heavily concentrated market

In 2011, two/thirds^{rds} of global phosphate production came from China, the US and Morocco (including Western Sahara). Exports are dominated by the

phosphate-producing nations of the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, who represent 80% of the world's total exports. The biggest three exporters are Morocco (40% of exports), Jordan (23%) and Syria (13%) respectively.¹³³

Risks to the Netherlands' security of phosphate supply

Several developments are potentially worrisome. First, in 2007–2008, phosphate rock prices soared, inter alia, due to a rise in demand for fertilizer, insufficient fertilizer production, export restrictions in China, speculation and a heightened awareness among producer countries that they could 'set the price'.¹³⁴ Continued population and economic growth, urbanization, rising prosperity and concurrent changes in consumption patterns are likely to cause the newly higher prices to remain or rise, but certainly not fall.¹³⁵ Second, national monopolies are widespread and rock producers are becoming increasingly vertically integrated. This will cause phosphate imports into the EU to increasingly take the form of fertilizer, rather than raw rock¹³⁶—thus increasing the pressure on the Dutch phosphate processing industry. Finally, ongoing geopolitical instability in the MENA region in the aftermath of the Arab Spring and the civil war in Syria, have caused severe disruptions in the phosphate rock exports to Europe.¹³⁷

Perspectives for action

In order for the Netherlands' security of phosphate supply not to be adversely affected by the above mentioned developments, it is crucial that the Dutch government adopt an inclusive strategy towards phosphate rock producing countries and their (mining and fertilizer) companies. Such a strategy would enable close (technical and knowledge) cooperation on key challenges and would strengthen the overall sustainability of the phosphate industry.¹³⁸

Several key areas in which the Netherlands holds strong expertise, provide possibilities for such cooperation. First, freshwater management is a case in point. The mining sector relies heavily on the use of water throughout all of its stages. Because of competing claims over water coming from the agriculture and drinking water sectors, water scarcity is a potentially serious limiting factor for the phosphate mining industry.¹³⁹

Second, integral waste management represents an opportunity to treat waste originating from urbanized areas in the Middle East and North Africa more

adequately. Often such systems are lacking, causing environmental damage and adversely impacting drinking water quality and human health.¹⁴⁰ Finally, wastewater (a source rich in phosphate) reuse in agriculture is common throughout the Middle East and North Africa. However, in most countries of the region, wastewater treatment plants are not operated and maintained adequately, making wastewater unsuitable for unrestricted irrigation. Low freshwater prices also lead to a preference among farmers to rely on freshwater resources, undermining wastewater reuse and placing additional stress on already scarce freshwater resources.¹⁴¹

Bibliography

- 1 National Intelligence Council, Global Trends 2030: Alternative Worlds. (National Intelligence Council, December 2012), ii, http://www.dni.gov/files/documents/ GlobalTrends_2030.pdf.
- 2 Wouter van der Weijden, De Kwetsbaarheid Van Het Europese Landbouw- En Voedselsysteem Voor Calamiteiten En Geopolitiek (2011-2020). (Platform Landbouw, Innovatie en Samenleving, April 2011), http://www.platformlis.nl/adviezen/Beleidsdocumentcompleet-web.pdf.
- 3 Wouter van der Weijden, Udo de Haes, and Carin W. Rougoor, Addressing Three Major Gaps Regarding Food Security in the CAP Reform Proposals. (Platform Landbouw, Innovatie en Samenleving, 2012), http://www.stuurgroepta.nl/rapporten/Position-paper-CAPreform.pdf.
- 4 Wouter van der Weijden, De Kwetsbaarheid Van Het Europese Landbouw- En Voedselsysteem Voor Calamiteiten En Geopolitiek (2011-2020).
- 5 Food and Agriculture Organization, "FAO Media Centre: 925 Million in Chronic Hunger Worldwide," September 14, 2010, http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/45210/icode/.
- 6 World Food Programme, "The Year in Review, 2011," 2011; Food and Agriculture Organization, "FAO Hunger Portal," 2012, http://www.fao.org/hunger/en/.
- 7 Amartya Sen, "Hunger in the Contemporary World," in Discussion Paper for the Suntory Centre (London School of Economics, 1997), http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/6685/1/Hunger_in_ the_Contemporary_World.pdf.
- 8 Luca Alinova, Günter Hemrich, and Lucha Russo, Addressing Food Insecurity in Fragile States: Case Studies from the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Somalia and Sudan, ESA Working Paper (FAO, July 2007), ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/010/ai028e/ai028e00.pdf.
- 9 Marjolein de Ridder, "Food Security" (The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies & TNO, 2011), 8.
- 10 United Nations Population Division, "World Population Prospects, the 2010 Revision," April 15, 2011, http://esa.un.org/wpp/Analytical-Figures/htm/fig_1.htm.
- United Nations Population Division, "World Population Prospects, the 2010 Revision," April 15, 2011, http://esa.un.org/wpp/Analytical-Figures/htm/fig_2.htm.

- 12 Edgar G. Hertwich et al., "Assessing the Environmental Impacts of Consumption and Production. Priority Products and Materials," ed. International Panel for Sustainable Resource Management, Working Group on the Environmental Impacts of Products and Materials: Prioritization and Improvement Options (United Nations Environment Programme, 2010), 79; United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, "Worsening Factors of Food Insecurity in the Drylands," August 2011, http://www. unccd.int/en/programmes/Thematic-Priorities/Food-Sec/Pages/Wors-Fact.aspx.
- 13 United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, "Worsening Factors of Food Insecurity in the Drylands."
- 14 OECD FAO, "Agricultural Outlook 2011-2020," n.d., http://www.agri-outlook.org/ dataoecd/13/2/48186214.pdf.
- 15 Global Perspective Studies Unit Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, "World Agriculture: Towards 2030/2050 Interim Report. Prospects for Food, Nutrition, Agriculture and Major Commodity Groups," June 2006, 53.
- 16 Food and Agriculture Organization, "Food Outlook. Global Market Analysis" (Food and Agriculture Organization, May 2012), 1.
- 17 Food and Agriculture Organization, "Food Outlook. Global Market Analysis" (Food and Agriculture Organization, November 2011), 1.
- 18 United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, "Worsening Factors of Food Insecurity in the Drylands."
- 19 European Commission, "Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the European Innovation Partnership 'Agricultural Productivity and Sustainability' COM(2012) 79 Final" (European Commission, February 29, 2012), 2.
- 20 De Ridder, "Food Security," 20.
- 21 Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) and Earth System Science Partnership (ESSP, "Agriculture, Food Security and Climate Change: Outlook for Knowledge, Tools and Action (CCAFS Report No. 3)," 2010.
- 22 Marjolein de Ridder et al., "Op Weg Naar Een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick Scan Ten Behoeve Van De Grondstoffennotitie" (The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies, 2011); The World Bank, "Food Price Volatility a Growing Concern, World Bank Stands Ready to Respond," June 30, 2012, http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/2012/07/30/food-pricevolatility-growing-concern-world-bank-stands-ready-respond.
- 23 C. L. Gilbert and C. W. Morgan, "Food Price Volatility.," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* no. 365 (2010): 3023–3026.
- 24 Gerdien Meijerink, Siemen van Berkum, et al., Price and Prejudice: Why Are Food Prices so High? (The Hague: LEI, part of Wageningen UR, 2011), http://www.lei.wur.nl/NL/ publicaties+en+producten/LEIpublicaties/?id=1228.

- 25 C. L. Gilbert and C. W. Morgan, "Food Price Volatility.," 3027.
- 26 Asian Development Bank, "Food Security and Poverty in Asia and the Pacific: Key Challenges and Policy Issues," April 2012.
- 27 International Fund for Agricultural Development, "Higher and Volatile Food Prices and Poor Rural People," accessed October 28, 2012, http://www.ifad.org/operations/food/.
- 28 Lester R. Brown, "The New Geopolitics of Food By Lester R. Brown | Foreign Policy," June 2011, http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2011/04/25/the_new_geopolitics_of_ food.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 World Food Programme, "How Solving Hunger Builds A More Secure World," July 6, 2012, http://www.wfp.org/stories/how-solving-hunger-builds-more-secure-world.
- 31 In 1980, then Liberian President William Tolbert, was overthrown by Sergeant Samuel Doe after food price riots BBC News, "Liberia Country Profile - Overview," June 20, 2012, http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-13729504; Emanuel Camillo, "Seven Killed as Rising Food Prices Spark Riots in Mozambique," *The Independent*, September 2, 2010, http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/africa/seven-killed-as-rising-food-pricesspark-riots-in-mozambique-2068107.html; Philip Verwimp, "Food Security, Violent Conflict and Human Development: Causes and Consequences" (United Nations Development Programme Regional Bureau for Africa, January 2012), 7.
- 32 Lorenzo Cotula et al., Land Grab or Development Opportunity? Agricultural Investment and International Land Deals in Africa (London/Rome: IIED/FAO/IFAD, 2009).
- 33 De Ridder, "Food Security," 19; Aalok Mehta, "Perfect Storm' in Food Prices Caused by Many Factors," National Geographic News, accessed October 24, 2012, http://news. nationalgeographic.com/news/2008/05/080528-food-crisis.html.
- 34 National Intelligence Council, Global Trends 2030: Alternative Worlds., ii.
- 35 Govert Gijsbers, Sophie Roborgh, and Tim Sweijs, "The Rise of Asia and Strategic Questions for Europe" (The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies & TNO, 2010).
- 36 Sijbren de Jong et al., "New Players, New Game? The Impact of Emerging Economies on Global Governance" (The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies & TNO, 2012).
- 37 de Ridder, "The Geopolitics of Minerals for Renewable Energy Technologies."
- 38 The Rise of Asia and Strategic Questions for Europe Reports HCSS Centre for Strategic Studies.
- 39 National Intelligence Council, Global Trends 2030: Alternative Worlds., viii.
- 40 Korteweg, de Ridder, et al, Op weg naar een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick scan ten behoeve van de Grondstoffennotitie, 22–23.
- 41 Roland Dannreuther, Understanding Conflict and Cooperation in Access to Oil, Gas and Minerals, European Policy Brief (Polinares, January 2011), http://ec.europa.eu/research/ social-sciences/pdf/policy-briefs-polinares_en.pdf.

- 42 Terence P. Stewart and Jin Ma, *China's Support Programs for Selected Industries: Agriculture* (The Trade Lawyers Advisory Group, June 2007), http://www.uscc.gov/ researchpapers/2008/TLAG%20Report%20-%20China's%20Support%20Program%20 for%20Agriculture.pdf.
- 43 Food and Agriculture Organization, "FAOSTAT," 2010, http://faostat.fao.org/site/339/ default.aspx.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 De Ridder et al., "Op Weg Naar Een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick Scan Ten Behoeve Van De Grondstoffennotitie," 37.
- 46 BBC News, "Analysis: Land Grab or Development Opportunity?," BBC News Africa, accessed October 29, 2012, http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-17099348; Lorenzo Cotula et al., "Land Grab or Development Opportunity? Agricultural Investment and International Land Deals in Africa" (Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED) and the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), 2009).
- 47 Ashok Chapagain and Keith James, "The Water and Carbon Footprint of Household Food and Drink Waste in the UK. Final Report." (World Wide Fund (WFF-UK) and Waste & Resources Action Programme (WRAP), March 2011).
- 48 Food and Agriculture Organization, "FAO Media Centre: 925 Million in Chronic Hunger Worldwide."
- 49 Klaus et al. von Grebmer, 2012 Global Hunger Index. The Challenge of Hunger: Ensuring Sustainable Food Security Under Land, Water, and Energy Stresses (Welthungerhilfe/ International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI)/Concern Worldwide, 2012), http:// www.ifpri.org/publication/2012-global-hunger-index.
- 50 P. Berkhout and P. Roza, *Landbouw-Economisch Bericht 2012* (Den Haag: LEI, onderdeel van Wageningen UR, 2012), http://edepot.wur.nl/213938.
- 51 M.G.A. van Leeuwen, A.J. de Kleijn, and A. Pronk, Het Nederlandse Agrocomplex 2011 (Den Haag: LEI Wageningen UR, 2012), http://edepot.wur.nl/200909.
- 52 Berkhout and Roza, *Landbouw-Economisch Bericht 2012*. Rapport 2012-038, LEI Wageningen UR, Den Haag
- 53 P.L. Nowicki et al., Study on the Implications of Asynchronous GMO Approvals for EU Imports of Animal Feed Products (Den Haag: LEI, part of Wageningen UR, 2010), http:// edepot.wur.nl/170131.
- 54 E. Nkonya et al., "The Economics of Desertification, Land Degradation, and Drought -Toward an Integrated Global Assessment" (International Food Policy Research Institute / ZEF Bonn IFPRI Discussion Paper 01086, May 2011).
- 55 Klaus et al. von Grebmer, 2012 Global Hunger Index. The Challenge of Hunger: Ensuring Sustainable Food Security Under Land, Water, and Energy Stresses (Welthungerhilfe/

International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI)/Concern Worldwide, 2012), 31, http://www.ifpri.org/publication/2012-global-hunger-index.

- 56 Von Grebmer, 2012 Global Hunger Index. The Challenge of Hunger: Ensuring Sustainable Food Security Under Land, Water, and Energy Stresses.
- 57 Ibid., 31.
- 58 Maplecroft, "Maplecroft's Political Risk Atlas 2013 Forecasts Global Risk Hotspots," January 9, 2013, http://maplecroft.com/about/news/pra_2013.html.
- 59 Simon Talsma, "Export Pootaardappelen Verloopt Tot Nu Toe Goed," Friesch Dagblad, February 11, 2012, http://www.frieschdagblad.nl/index.asp?artID=58459.
- 60 D.M. Jansen et al., Responses of the EU Feed and Livestock System to Shocks in Trade and Production. (Wageningen: Plant Research International B.V., December 2010).
- 61 See, for an illustration in relation to horticulture and propagation, the advice of the Commission-Nijkamp (Vitaal tuinbouwcluster 2040. Een toekomststrategie voor Greenport Holland. Rapport Adviesgroep 'Tuinbouwcluster Greenport.NL', June 2010)
- 62 Rabobank (2004). Visie op internationalisering. http://overons.rabobank.com/content/ images/visie_tcm64-75168.pdf (in dutch). Rabobank. Sustainability and Security of the Global Supply Chain. News. Utrecht, October 11, 2010. http://www.rabobank.com/ content/news/news_archive/015-RabobankGlobalfoodsystemonunsustainabletrack.jsp.
- 63 De Nederlandsche Bank. 'Balance of Payments and International Investment Position', n.d. http://www.statistics.dnb.nl/en/balance-of-payents-and-international-investmentpositions/index.jsp. Web statistics, table 12.6.2., Direct investment abroad (stocks) by country, region and sector. Detail on primary agriculture is not available from this source.
- 64 The description of topsector strategies makes use of the advisory texts submitted by the top-teams to the Minister of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation, and the strategies for realizing international ambitions developed within the two agricultural topsectors. See www.topsectoren.nl (in Dutch).
- 65 Marjolein de Ridder et al., Risks and Opportunities in the Global Phosphate Rock Market. Robust Strategies in Times of Uncertainty. (The Hague: The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies, 2012), http://static.hcss.nl/files/uploads/1506.pdf.
- 66 Jones et al., Policy Responses in Emerging Economies to International Agricultural Commodity Price Surges, OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers (OECD, 2010), http://dx.doi. org/10.1787/5km6c61fv4ow-en.
- 67 Standing Committee on Agricultural Research, EC, "Standing Committee on Agricultural Research," accessed January 23, 2013, http://ec.europa.eu/research/ agriculture/scar/research-agenda_en.htm.
- 68 Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation, and Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment, *Grondstoffennotitie* (The Hague,

July 15, 2011), http://www.rijksoverheid.nl/bestanden/documenten-en-publicaties/ rapporten/2011/07/15/grondstoffennotitie/grondstoffennotitie.pdf.

- 69 Wouter van der Weijden, De Kwetsbaarheid Van Het Europese Landbouw- En Voedselsysteem Voor Calamiteiten En Geopolitiek (2011-2020).
- 70 CEC, An EU Policy Framework to Assist Developing Countries in Addressing Food Security Challenges (Brussels: Commission of the European Communities, March 2010), http:// ec.europa.eu/development/icenter/repository/COMM_PDF_COM_2010_0127_EN.PDF; CEC, Green Paper on Agricultural Product Quality: Product Standards, Farming Requirements and Quality Schemes (Brussels: Commission of the European Communities, October 2008), http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/quality/policy/consultation/greenpaper_en.pdf.
- Meester et al., EU Policy for Agriculture, Food and Rural Areas, vol. 2 (The Netherlands: Wageningen Academic, 2011); Valentin Zahrnt, "Transparency of Complex Regulation: How Should WTO Trade Policy Reviews Deal with Sanitary and Phytosanitary Policies?," World Trade Review 10, no. 2 (April 2011): 217–247.
- 72 Nowicki et al., "Update of Analysis of Prospects in the Scenar 2020 Study"Preparing for Change (Brussels: European Commission, 2009), http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/ analysis/external/scenar2020ii/report_en.pdf.
- 73 Standing Committee on Agricultural Research (SCAR), Agricultural Knowledge and Innovation Systems in Transition - a Reflection Paper (Brussels: SCAR Collaborative Working Group on Agricultural Knowledge and Innovation Systems (CWG AKIS), 2012).
- 74 Gloria Solano and Siemen van Berkum, Agricultural Production Potentials in Eastern Europe up to 2050 in the Context of Climate Change. Regional Case Study No. R7 for the Global Food and Farming Futures Project, UK Foresight., accessed January 23, 2013, http://www.bis. gov.uk/assets/foresight/docs/food-and-farming/regional/11-596-r7-agriculturalproduction-potentials-eastern-europe.
- 75 International Food & Agricultural Trade Policy Council and CUTS International,
 "Rebalancing the Rights of Importers and Exporters: How to Address Agricultural Export Restrictions?," in *Joint IPC-CUTS Alerts*, 2001 September 21.
- 76 The Montpellier Panel, Africa and Europe: Partnerships for Agricultural Development (London: Imperial College, 2010), http://www3.imperial.ac.uk/ africanagriculturaldevelopment/themontpellierpanel/panelreport; J. Beddington, "Food Security: Contributions from Science to a New and Greener Revolution," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365, no. 1537 (2010): 61.
- 77 Bernice Lee et al., Resources Futures (London: Chatham House, 2012), http://www. chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/public/Research/Energy,%20Environment%20 and%20Development/1212r_resourcesfutures.pdf.

- 78 Marjolein de Ridder et al., "Risks and Opportunities in the Global Phosphate Rock Market – Robust Strategies in Times of Uncertainty" (The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies, 2012), 80–81.
- 79 This section draws in part on material from Rutten et al. Sit down at the Ballgame: How Trade Barriers Make the World Less Food Secure 2011 International Congress, August 30-September 2, 2011, Zurich, Switzerland (European Association of Agricultural Economists, 2011), http://ideas.repec.org/p/ags/eaae11/114653.html. and Meijerink et al. Price and Prejudice: Why Are Food Prices so High? (The Hague: LEI, part of Wageningen UR, 2011), http://www.lei.wur.nl/NL/publicaties+en+producten/LEIpublicaties/?id=1228.
- 80 Food and Agriculture Organization, "World Food Situation: FAO Cereal Supply and Demand Brief," October 4, 2012, http://www.fao.org/worldfoodsituation/wfs-home/ csdb/en/.
- 81 Meijerink, Berkum, et al., Price and Prejudice: Why Are Food Prices so High?.
- 82 The World Bank, "Prospects Global Monitoring Report 2012: Food Prices, Nutrition, and the Millennium Development Goals," 2012, http://econ.worldbank.org/WBSITE/ EXTERNAL/EXTDEC/EXTDECPROSPECTS/0,,contentMDK:23148901~pagePK:64165401~ piPK:64165026~theSitePK:476883,00.html.
- 83 M. Demeke, G. Pangrazio, and M. Maetz, Country Responses to the Food Security Crisis: Nature and Preliminary Implications of the Policies Pursued., FAO's Initiative on Soaring Food Prices (Rome: FAO, 2009), ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/ak177e/ak177e00.pdf.
- 84 Rutten, Meijerink, and Chant, Sit down at the Ballgame.
- 85 The World Bank, "Prospects Global Monitoring Report 2012: Food Prices, Nutrition, and the Millennium Development Goals," chap. 4.
- 86 Kym Anderson, "Reducing Trade Distortions Could Ease Food Price Volatility," VoxEU. org, November 13, 2009, http://www.voxeu.org/article/reducing-trade-distortionscould-ease-food-price-volatility.
- 87 Derek Headey, "Rethinking the Global Food Crisis: The Role of Trade Shocks," Food Policy 36, no. 2 (April 2011): 136–146, doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.10.003.
- 88 C. Peter Timmer, Did Speculation Affect World Rice Prices? Working Paper (Agricultural and Development Economics Division of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO - ESA), 2009), http://ideas.repec.org/p/fao/wpaper/0907.html.
- 89 Kym Anderson and Signe Nelgen, "Agricultural Trade Distortions During the Global Financial Crisis," SSRN eLibrary (August 2012), http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers. cfm?abstract_id=2153536.
- 90 Author's own calculations, based on date from the International Cocoa Organization.
 See International Cocoa Organization (ICCO), "Annual Report 2009/2010," March 2011,
 3. The cacao industry itself claims that 25% of the beans are grinded and processed in the Netherlands.

- 91 Number is based on average figures from CBS Statline: http://*statline.cbs.nl/*. The industry itself estimates the total number of jobs at 10,000.
- 92 This analysis is based on data for 2009, when the Netherlands imported 440 kilotons (kt) worth of cocoabeans. The scenario estimates the economic costs associated with a drop in supplies to 220 kt. See S.M. de Bruyn et al., "Op Weg Naar Een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick Scan Ten Behoeve Van De Grondstoffennotitie. Annex: Grondstoffen, Economie En Duurzaamheid, Enkele Illustraties" (CE Delft, June 2011), 38–39.
- 93 International Cocoa Organization (ICCO), "ICCO Quarterly Bulletin of Cocoa Statistics" XXXVIII, no. 3 (August 28, 2012).
- 94 Based on data for 2010. See CBI Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands, "Cocoa Beans in the Netherlands" (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands, 2011), 1.
- 95 "Agrimoney.com | China Cocoa Coffee Cocoa, Coffee Next on List of Ags Craved by China," May 4, 2012, http://www.agrimoney.com/news/cocoa-coffee-next-on-list-ofags-craved-by-china--4485.html; CNN, "Who Consumes the Most Chocolate?," January 17, 2012, http://thecnnfreedomproject.blogs.cnn.com/2012/01/17/who-consumes-themost-chocolate/.
- 96 International Cocoa Organization (ICCO), "Annual Report 2009/2010", March 2011, 3; In fact this trend was already been set in motion as early as 1999. See Philip Abbott, "Cote D'Ivoire," in Distortions to Agricultural Incentives in Africa, ed. Kym Anderson and William A. Masters (Washington, D.C.: The World Bank, 2009), 398–399.
- 97 Reuters, "Ivory Coast Eyes Position as Top Cocoa Grinder," accessed October 30, 2012, http://af.reuters.com/article/ghanaNews/idAFCOC74169820100817?sp=true; Mieu Baudelaire, "Ivory Coast Plans More Cocoa Grinding at San Pedro Sites," Businessweek, July 30, 2012, http://www.businessweek.com/news/2012-07-30/ivory-coast-cocoagrinding-to-exceed-300-000-tons-by-2015.
- 98 Baris Karapinar, "Export Restrictions on Natural Resources: Policy Options and Opportunities for Africa" (World Trade Institute, University of Bern, Switzerland, n.d.), 8–9; World Trade Organization (WTO), "World Trade Organization - Report by the Secretariat. WT/TPR/S/147" (World Trade Organization (WTO), n.d.), 39.
- 99 Abbott, "Cote D'Ivoire," 396.
- 100 Ibid., 387.
- 101 Ibid., 410.
- 102 HCSS Geopolitical Risk Assessment Framework (GRAF). GeoRisQ Monitor. October 2012.`
- 103 Javier Blas and Tom Burgis, "Cocoa Surges as Ivory Coast Crisis Deepens FT.com," Financial Times, December 6, 2010, http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/a947df24-012d-11e0-8846-00144feab49a.html#axzz2AsDwbDa6; Economic Times, "Ivory Coast Unrest Slows

Cocoa Trade, Says ICCO," December 18, 2010, http://articles.economictimes.indiatimes. com/2010-12-18/news/27618086_1_cocoa-trade-cocoa-crop-cocoa-prices; Gregory White, "Ivory Coast Election Chaos Is Making Cocoa Prices Surge," *Business Insider*, December 6, 2010, http://www.businessinsider.com/ivory-coast-election-chaos-is-making-cocoaprices-surge-2010-12.

- 105 Author's own calculations based on the amount of soy beans imported by the Netherlands as reported by the FAO, measured against the amount imported by the EU as reported by the USDA. Ibid.; "FAOSTAT," 2010, http://faostat.fao.org/site/342/default. aspx.
- 106 CBS StatLine, "Internationale Handel; in- En Uitvoer Naar Goederengroepen," 2010, http://statline.cbs.nl/StatWeb/publication/?DM=SLNL&PA=37830&D1=0&D2=0,129&D3 =0,23,79&D4=180-194&HDR=T,G2&STB=G3,G1&VW=T.
- 107 De Ridder et al., "Op Weg Naar Een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick Scan Ten Behoeve Van De Grondstoffennotitie," 106.
- 108 Ben Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber" (LEI Wageningen, March 2010), 30.
- 109 De Bruyn et al., "Op Weg Naar Een Grondstoffenstrategie. Quick Scan Ten Behoeve Van De Grondstoffennotitie. Annex: Grondstoffen, Economie En Duurzaamheid, Enkele Illustraties," 31.
- 110 Ibid.
- 111 This amount consists of a €7 billion loss in purchasing power, a €4,9 billion loss in exports and a €2,1 billion increase in imports. Ibid., 44.
- 112 Author's own calculations based on data for 2010/2011. See United States Department of Agriculture. Foreign Agricultural Service (USDA), "Table 07: Soy beans: World Supply and Distribution."
- 113 Ibid.
- 114 Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber," 29.
- 115 See Council Decision 93/355/EEC of 8 June 1993, OJ L 147/25 of 18 June 1993. The agreement allowed the EC to continue to financially support the production of certain oilseeds, yet it established a number of restrictions on this support. In particular, it limited the supported geographical area, which was not allowed to be larger than 5.482

hectares. Also, the agreement limited the quantity of by-products made available as a result of the cultivation of oilseeds for non-food purposes on subsidized set aside land to 1 million tonnes of soy bean meal equivalent. Modification of the maximum supported area is allowed. For example, in 1995 it was expanded to cover the (then) EU15. No amendment of the agreement was negotiated since to reflect subsequent enlargements however. See European Commission, Directorate-General for Agriculture and Rural Development, Unit C5, "Oilseeds and Protein Crops in the EU," October 2011, 2.

- 116 Richard D. Taylor and Won W. Koo, "2011 Outlook of the U.S. and World Corn and Soy bean Industries, 2010-2020. Agribusiness & Applied Economics Report No. 682."
 (Center for Agricultural Policy and Trade Studies Department of Agribusiness and Applied Economics North Dakota State University, July 2011), v.
- 117 Office of the Chief Economist, World Agricultural Outlook Board, U.S. Department of Agriculture, "USDA Agricultural Projections to 2021. Agricultural Trade" (United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), February 2012), 32.
- 118 Taylor and Koo, "2011 Outlook of the U.S. and World Corn and Soy bean Industries, 2010-2020. Agribusiness & Applied Economics Report No. 682.," 19; Office of the Chief Economist, World Agricultural Outlook Board, U.S. Department of Agriculture, "USDA Agricultural Projections to 2021. Agricultural Trade," 33.
- 119 Office of the Chief Economist, World Agricultural Outlook Board, U.S. Department of Agriculture, "USDA Agricultural Projections to 2021. Agricultural Trade," 33.
- 120 Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber," 29.
- 121 Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Commodities and Trade Division, Basic Foodstuffs Service, "The Role of Soy bean in Fighting World Hunger" (Food and Agriculture Organization, n.d.), 12.
- 122 Felicity Lawrence, "Global Food Crisis: Argentina in Battle with Multinational Grain Giants," The Guardian, June 1, 2011, http://www.guardian.co.uk/business/2011/jun/01/ global-food-crisis-argentina-grain-tax; Felicity Lawrence, "The Global Food Crisis: ABCD of Food – How the Multinationals Dominate Trade," The Guardian, June 2, 2011, http://www.guardian.co.uk/global-development/poverty-matters/2011/jun/02/abcdfood-giants-dominate-trade.
- 123 Lawrence, "The Global Food Crisis: ABCD of Food How the Multinationals Dominate Trade."
- 124 Simon Romero, "In Brazil, Violence Hits Tribes in Scramble for Land," New York Times, June 9, 2012, http://www.nytimes.com/2012/06/10/world/americas/in-brazil-violencehits-tribes-in-scramble-for-land.html.
- 125 Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber," 43.

- 126 Ibid.; Andre Soliani and Luri Dantas, "Amazon Deforestation Jumped Sixfold on Expanded Soy Planting, Brazil Says - Bloomberg," May 18, 2011, http://www.bloomberg. com/news/2011-05-18/amazon-deforestation-jumped-sixfold-on-expanded-soyplanting-brazil-says.html.
- 127 Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber," 43.
- 128 World Wide Fund (WWF), "The Social Impact of Soy," accessed November 4, 2012, http://wwf.panda.org/what_we_do/footprint/agriculture/soy/impacts/social/.
- 129 Kamphuis et al., "Dutch Trade and Biodiversity. Biodiversity and Socio-economic Impacts of Dutch Trade in Soya, Palm Oil and Timber," 42.
- 130 World Cocoa Foundation, "WCF African Cocoa Initiative," Worldcocoafoundation.org, n.d., http://worldcocoafoundation.org/wcf-african-cocoa-initiative/.
- 131 J. J. Schröder et al., "Improved Phosphorus Use Efficiency in Agriculture: A Key Requirement for Its Sustainable Use," Chemosphere 84 (2011): 824.
- 132 Based on CBS Statline figures for 2005. Most recent figures available. See R.J. van Enk and J.G. de Wilt, The phosphate balance: current developments and future outlook (Utrecht: InnovationNetwerk, 2011), 33.
- 133 Domestic consumption in China and the US largely eclipses their exporting activities. Moroccan firm OCP currently accounts for some accounts for some 35% of the world phosphate rock exports. PotashCorp, "What Matters in Phosphate," PotashCorp, 2011, http://www.potashcorp.com/annual_reports/2011/our_nutrients/phosphate/overview/; N-P-K World, "Morocco: OCP to Double Phosphate Production by 2020," April 27, 2012, http://npk101.wordpress.com/2012/04/27/morocco-ocp-to-double-phosphateproduction-by-2020/; Stephen Jasinski, "Phosphate Rock," in Mineral Commodity Summaries 2012 (Washington: U.S Government Printing Office, 2012), 118–119.
- 134 De Ridder et al., "Risks and Opportunities in the Global Phosphate Rock Market Robust Strategies in Times of Uncertainty," 27.
- 135 The World Bank, "World Databank GEM Commodities," accessed August 9, 2012, http:// databank.worldbank.org/ddp/home.do?Step=12&id=4&CNO=1175; "Interview with Expert on the Global Phosphate Rock Market (2)," September 11, 2012.
- 136 Chemicals Unit of DG Enterprise, Extended Impact Assessment: Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Relating to Cadmium in Fertilizers (European Commission, July 31, 2003), http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/newsroom/cf/_getdocument. cfm?doc_id=2967; James Wellstead, "Political Risks in MENA Phosphate Markets," Potash Investing News, February 16, 2012, http://potashinvestingnews.com/4799political-risks-mena-phosphate-markets-tunisia-morocco-jordan-syria-afric.html.
- 137 De Ridder et al., "Risks and Opportunities in the Global Phosphate Rock Market Robust Strategies in Times of Uncertainty," 34–37.

- 138 Ibid., 57-58.
- 139 United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) Finance Initiative, "Chief Liquidity Series. Water-related Materiality Briefings for Financial Institutions. Issue 1 Agribusiness.," October 1, 2009, 55.
- 140 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, "Regional Network for Integrated Waste Management in the MENA Region," accessed November 22, 2012, http://www.giz.de/themen/en/30607.htm.
- 141 The World Bank, "Wastewater Re-use," accessed November 22, 2012, http://web. worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/COUNTRIES/MENAEXT/EXTMNAREGTOPWATRE S/o,,contentMDK:22357054~pagePK:34004173~piPK:34003707~theSitePK:497164,00. html.

The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies

19al

Lange Voorhout 16 2514 EE The Hague The Netherlands

info@hcss.nl www.hcss.nl